
 

 
 

Agenda 

 

Page 1 

Cabinet 
 

Time and Date 
10.00 am on Tuesday, 21st February 2023 
 
Place 
Council Chamber - Council House 
 

 

 
 
Public business 
 
1. Apologies   

 
2. Declarations of Interest   

 
3. Council Tax Setting Report 2023/24  (Pages 3 - 10) 
 

 Report of the Interim Chief Executive (Section 151 Officer) 
 

4. Budget Report 2023/24  (Pages 11 - 86) 
 

 Report of the Interim Chief Executive (Section 151 Officer) 
 

5. Outstanding Issues   
 

 There are no outstanding issues 
 

6. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.   
 

Private business 
Nil 
 
 

Julie Newman, Chief Legal Officer, Council House, Coventry 
 
Monday, 13 February 2023 
 
Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lara 
Knight/ Michelle Salmon, Governance Services, Email: lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk/ 
michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk 
 
Cabinet Members:  
Councillors R Brown, K Caan, G Duggins (Chair), P Hetherton, A S Khan  
(Deputy Chair), M Mutton, J O'Boyle, K Sandhu, P Seaman and D Welsh 
 
 

Public Document Pack



Page 2 

Non-voting Deputy Cabinet Members: 
Councillors P Akhtar, B Gittins, G Hayre, G Lloyd and S Nazir 
 
By invitation:  
Councillors P Male and G Ridley (Non-voting Opposition representatives) 
 
 
Public Access  
Any member of the public who would like to attend the meeting in person is 
encouraged to contact the officer below in advance of the meeting regarding 
arrangements for public attendance. A guide to attending public meeting can be found 
here: https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings 
 
 

Lara Knight/Michelle Salmon 
Governance Services  
Email: 
lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk/michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings


 Public report 
Cabinet Report  

 

 

Cabinet                  21 February 2023 
Council                  21 February 2023 
 
 
Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources – Councillor R Brown 
 
Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Interim Chief Executive (Section 151 Officer)
 
Ward(s) affected: 
All 
 
Title: 
Council Tax Setting Report 2023/24 
 
 
Is this a key decision? 
Yes - Council is being recommended to approve the Council Tax levels for 2023/24 
 

 
Executive Summary: 
 
This report calculates the Council Tax level for 2023/24 and makes appropriate recommendations 
to the Council, consistent with the Budget Report 2023/24 on the same agenda. The report 
recommends a 4.9% increase in the City’s Council Tax.  Some figures and information are 
necessarily provisional at this stage due to precepts not having been confirmed. These are shaded 
in grey. 
 
The report incorporates the impact of the Council's gross expenditure and the level of income it will 
receive through Business Rates, grants, and fees and charges. This results in a Council Tax 
requirement, as the amount that its expenditure exceeds all other sources of income.  
 
The report includes a calculation of the Band D Council Tax that will be needed to generate this 
Council Tax requirement, based on the City's approved Council Tax base. The 2023/24 Band D 
Council Tax that is calculated through this process has increased by £89.99 from the 2022/23 level. 
 
Each year the Government determines the maximum Council Tax increases that local authorities 
can set without triggering a referendum. For 2023/24 the Secretary of State has published a report 
which proposes that the rise in Coventry City Council’s Council Tax must be below 5% in 2023/24 
to avoid triggering a referendum, comprising a 2% precept for expenditure on adult social care and 
a maximum of 3% for other expenditure. At the time of writing the Secretary of State’s report is 
subject to parliamentary approval. The recommendations within the Budget Report 2023/24 are 
based on a proposed increase in Council Tax of 4.9%, incorporating a core Council Tax rise of 
2.9% and a 2% Adult Social Care Precept. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

  

At the time of writing this report the precept from the Police and Crime Commissioner and the 
precept from the Fire and Rescue Authority have not been confirmed. The provisional figures 
provided in this report are based on indicative figures. A report, with confirmed final figures, will be 
presented at the Council meeting on 21 February 2023. 
 
Members should note that the recommendations follow the structure of resolutions drawn up by 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, to ensure that legal requirements are 
fully adhered to in setting the tax. As a consequence, the wording of the proposed resolutions is 
necessarily complex.  
 
Recommendations: 
 
That Cabinet recommend to Council the approval of recommendations (1) to (5) below. 
 
Council is recommended: 
 
(1) To note the following Council Tax base amounts for the year 2023/24, as approved by Cabinet 
on 10 January 2023, in accordance with Regulations made under Section 31B of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 ("the Act"): 
 
a) 86,075.2 being the amount calculated by the Council as its Council Tax base for the year for the 
whole Council area; 
 
b) Allesley    387.5 
 Finham       1,549.4 

Keresley   369.8 
 
being the amounts calculated by the Council as its Council Tax base for the year for dwellings in 
those parts of its area to which one or more special items relate. 
 
(2) That the following amounts be now calculated by the Council for the year 2023/24 in 
accordance with Sections 31A, 31B and 34 to 36 of the Act: 

 

(a) £812,016,800 being the aggregate of the amounts that the Council estimates for the items 
set out in Section 31A(2) of the Act taking into account all precepts issued to 
it by Parish Councils (Gross Expenditure and reserves required to be raised 
for estimated future expenditure); 

(b) £647,576,998 being the aggregate of the amounts that the Council estimates for the items 
set out in Section 31A(3) of the Act. (Gross Income including reserves to be 
used to meet the Gross Expenditure but excluding Council Tax income); 

(c) £164,439,802  being the amount by which the aggregate at (2)(a) above exceeds the 
aggregate at (2)(b) above, calculated by the Council in accordance with 
Section 31A(4) of the Act, as its Council Tax requirement for the year; 

(d) £1,910.42            (2)(c)  = £164,439,802 
              (1)(a)     86,075.2 
 

being the amount at (2)(c) above divided by the amount at (1)(a) above, 
calculated by the Council in accordance with Section 31B of the Act, as the 
basic amount of its Council Tax for the year.  (Average Council Tax at Band 
D for the City including Parish Precepts). 

(e) £47,360  being the aggregate amount of all special items referred to in Section 34(1) of 
the Act.  (Parish Precepts); 

Page 4



 

  

 
 
 
 
(f) £1,909.87 = (2)(d) –  (2)(e)  = £1,909.87   –    £47,360     

                          (1)(a)                                       86,075.2 
 

being the amount at (2)(d) above, less the result given by dividing the amount 
at (2)(e) above by the amounts at (1)(a) above, calculated by the Council, in 
accordance with Section 34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount of its Council 
Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of the area to which no special 
item relates.  (Council Tax at Band D for the City excluding Parish Precepts); 

 

g) 
   

  

 

 being the amounts given by adding to the amount at (2)(f) above, the amounts 
of the special item or items relating to dwellings in those parts of the Council's 
area mentioned above divided in each case by the amount at (1)(b) above, 
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 34(3) of the Act, as the 
basic amounts of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its 
area to which one or more special items relate.  (Council Taxes at Band D for 
the City and Parish).   

  

h)   

Valuation 
Band 

Parts to which 
 no special  

item relates 

Parish of  
Allesley 

Parish of  
Finham 

Parish of  
Keresley 

 £ £ £ £ 
A 1,273.25 1,299.77 1,282.42 1,292.40 
B 1,485.45 1,516.39 1,496.15 1,507.79 
C 1,697.66 1,733.02 1,709.89 1,723.19 

D 1,909.87 1,949.65 1,923.63 1,938.59 

E 2,334.29 2,382.91 2,351.11 2,369.39 
F 2,758.70 2,816.16 2,778.58 2,800.18 
G 3,183.12 3,249.42 3,206.05 3,230.99 
H 3,819.74 3,899.30 3,847.26 3,877.18 

     
 

being the amounts given by multiplying the amounts at (2)(g) above by the 
number which, in the proportion set out in Section 5(1) of the Act, is applicable 
to dwellings listed in a particular valuation band divided by the number which 
in that proportion is applicable to dwellings listed in valuation Band D, 
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 36(1) of the Act, as the 
amounts to be taken into account for the year in respect of categories of 
dwelling listed in different valuation bands. 

  

Coventry (unparished area)  £1,909.87  

Allesley  £1,949.65  

Finham £1,923.63  

Keresley £1,938.59  

Page 5



 

  

 
(3) To note that for the year 2023/24 the Police and Crime Commissioner for the West Midlands 
and West Midlands Fire Authority have stated the following amounts in precepts issued to the 
Council, in accordance with Section 40 of the Act, for each of the categories of dwelling shown 
below: 
 

Valuation 
Band 

Police and Crime Commissioner 
for the West Midlands 

West Midlands 
Fire Authority 

 £ £ 
A 135.03 48.68 
B 157.54 56.79 
C 180.04 64.90 

D 202.55 73.02 

E 247.56 89.24 
F 292.57 105.47 
G 337.58 121.69 
H 405.10 146.03 

   
(4) That having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts at (2)(h) and (3) above, the 
Council, in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Act, hereby sets the following amounts as 
the amounts of Council Tax for the year 2023/24 for each part of its area and for each of the 
categories of dwellings shown below: 

 
Valuation 

Band 
Parts to which  

no special  
item relates 

Parish of  
Allesley 

Parish of  
Finham 

Parish of  
Keresley 

 £ £ £ £ 
A 1,456.96 1,483.48 1,466.13 1,476.11 
B 1,699.78 1,730.72 1,710.48 1,722.12 
C 1,942.60 1,977.96 1,954.83 1,968.13 

D 2,185.44 2,225.22 2,199.20 2,214.16 

E 2,671.09 2,719.71 2,687.91 2,706.19 
F 3,156.74 3,214.20 3,176.62 3,198.22 
G 3,642.39 3,708.69 3,665.32 3,690.26 
H 4,370.87 4,450.43 4,398.39 4,428.31 

 
(5) That the Council determines that its relevant basic amount of Council Tax for 2023/24 is not 
excessive in accordance with the principles set out in the Secretary of State’s report, under 
Sections 52ZC and 52ZD of the Act. 

 
List of Appendices included: 
None 
 

Other useful background papers: 
None 
 

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
No 
 

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?  
No  
 
Will this report go to Council?  
Yes – 21 February 2023 

Page 6



 

  

Report title: 
2023/24 Council Tax Setting Report  
 
1. Context (or background) 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the City's 2023/24 Council Tax. The total 

planned spending (Gross Expenditure) in 2023/24 will be met in part by grant income, and 
fees and charges. Any spending that is in excess of these income streams must be met 
from Council Tax and is referred to as the 'Council Tax Requirement'. 
 

1.2 The details of the planned spending for 2023/24 are proposed in the 'Budget Report 
2023/24' that is being considered by the Council in conjunction with this Council Tax Setting 
Report. 

 
1.3 The Government has legislated that the rise in Coventry City Council’s basic Council Tax 

must be below 5% in 2023/24 to avoid triggering a referendum, comprising a 2% precept 
for expenditure on adult social care and maximum 3% for other expenditure. The 
recommendations within the Budget Report 2023/24 are based on a proposed increase in 
Council Tax of 4.9%, incorporating a core Council Tax rise of 2.9% and a 2% Adult Social 
Care Precept. 

 
1.4 At the time of writing this report the precept from the Police and Crime Commissioner and 

the precept from the Fire and Rescue Authority have not been confirmed. A report, with 
confirmed final figures, will be presented at the Council meeting on the 21 February 2023. 

 
2. Options considered and recommended proposal 
 
2.1 The total Band D Council Tax in 2022/23 was £2,075.46. The figures calculated in this 

report represent a 4.9% increase from the 2022/23 figures for the City's Council Tax, and a 
5.3% increase in total. 

 
 Total Council Tax, excluding any element for Parish Precepts, can be broken down as: 

 
 Band D 

 
£ 

Increase from 
2022/23 

% 

Proportion 
of total bill 

% 

Coventry City Council  
1,909.87 4.9 87.4 

Police and Crime Commissioner for the 
West Midlands  

202.55 8.0 9.3 

West Midlands Fire Authority 
73.02 7.3 3.3 

Total Coventry Council Tax  
2,185.44 5.3 100.00 

 
 

2.2 The Band D Council Tax is used by Government as the national comparator.  However, for 
Coventry, this does not reflect the demographics of the area and the make-up of the 
property mix; Coventry's property base is weighted towards Bands A to C.  The average 
Council Tax bill in Coventry is £1,340.84, after allowing for all discounts and exemptions. 

 
 
 

Page 7



 

  

2.3 The total or "headline" council tax calculated for each band, for households of 2 or more 
adults with no reductions, and for households of 1 adult (who receive a 25% discount), is 
summarised below:   

 
  

Valuation 
Band 

Value of Property Proportion 
of  

Band D 

Chargeable 
Dwellings 

Council Tax 

 As at April 1991  2 + Adults1 1 Adult 1 
   No. % £ £ 

Band A dwellings entitled to 
Disabled Persons Relief 

 
5/9 173 0.1 1,214.13 910.60 

A Up to £40,000 6/9 55,853 39.7 1,456.96 1,092.72 

B £40,001 to £52,000 7/9 42,231 30.1 1,699.78 1,274.83 

C £52,001 to £68,000 8/9 23,662 16.9 1,942.60 1,456.94 

D £68,001 to £88,000 9/9 9,803 7.0 2,185.44 1,639.07 

E £88,001 to £120,000 11/9 4,732 3.4 2,671.09 2,003.32 

F £120,001 to £160,000 13/9 2,358 1.7 3,156.74 2,367.55 

G £160,001 to £320,000 15/9 1,409 1.0 3,642.39 2,731.79 

H Over £320,000 18/9 109 0.1 4,370.87 3,278.14 

   140,330 100.0   
 

1 These amounts may be subject to penny rounding when the actual bill is produced 

 
 
3. Results of consultation undertaken 
 

The proposals in the Pre-Budget Report have been subject to an eight week period of public 
consultation. The details arising out of this consultation period have been reported in 
Appendix 2 of the budget report. 

 
4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 
 The proposals in this report take effect for the financial year starting 1 April 2023. 
 
5. Comments from Interim Chief Executive (Section 151 Officer) and the Chief Legal 

Officer 
 
5.1 Financial implications 

A £1m increase or decrease in either the City Council's 2023/24 Council Tax requirement or 
Government grant, would lead to a £11.62 increase or decrease in Band D Council Tax 
(£7.13 in the average Council Tax per chargeable dwelling). Every £1 added to or removed 
from the Council Tax level will raise or reduce Council Tax income by £86,075. 

 
5.2 Legal implications 

 
A statutory duty is placed on the Council, as billing authority, to set for each financial year an 
amount of council tax for different categories of dwellings according to the band in which the 
dwelling falls.  The requirements to calculate and set a Council Tax are set out in the Local 

Page 8



 

  

Government Finance Act 1992 and are detailed in the report.   The Localism Act 2011 made 
significant changes to this Act, requiring authorities to calculate a Council Tax requirement 
for the year, not a budget requirement as was previously required.  The Local Government 
Finance Act 2012 made minor changes to the 1992 Act, clarifying the effect of the changes 
made to the way non-domestic rates income is distributed. 

 
6. Other implications 
 
6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's Plan? 
 
 The budget report on today's agenda outlines the continued tight resource constraints facing 

the Council but contains no new savings options that will have an adverse impact on the 
quality and level of services provided and the achievement of key objectives. 

 
6.2 How is risk being managed? 

 
A non-collection rate is built into estimates of Council Tax income. Collection performance is 
monitored on a regular basis. 

 
6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 

 
 See Budget Setting 2023/24 Report, Council 21 February 2023. 
 
6.4 Equalities/ECA  

 
No further implications 

 
6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 

 
No further implications 

 
6.6 Implications for partner organisations? 

 
No further implications 

  

Page 9



 

  

Report author:
 
Name and job title:
Phil Baggott 
Lead Accountant 
 
Service: 
Finance 
 
Tel and email contact:
Tel: 024 7697 2629 
Email: phil.baggott@coventry.gov.uk 
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Service Date doc 
sent out 

Date 
response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

Michelle Salmon Governance Services 
Officer 

Law and 
Governance 

6/1/23 7/1/23 

Paul Jennings Finance Manager 
(Corporate Finance) 

Finance 6/1/23 7/1/23 

Names of approvers: 
(officers and members) 

    

Sarah Harriott Corporate Governance 
Lawyer 

Law and 
Governance 

6/1/23 9/1/23 

Barry Hastie Interim Chief Executive 
(Section 151 Officer) 
 

- 13/1/23 13/1/23 

Councillor R Brown Cabinet Member for 
Strategic Finance and 
Resources 

- 13/1/23 13/1/23 

 

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings  
 
 

 
 
 

Page 10

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings



 

Public report 
Cabinet 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet 21st February 2023 
Council 21st February 2023 
 
 
Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources – Councillor R Brown 
 
Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Interim Chief Executive (Section 151 Officer) 
 
Ward(s) affected: 
All 
 
Title: 
Budget Report 2023/24 
 
 
Is this a key decision? 
Yes - The report sets the Council's Revenue Budget for 2023/24, the Capital Programme for 
2023/24 to 2027/28 and the Council’s Capital, Treasury Management and Commercial 
Investment Strategies. 
 
 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
This report follows on from the Pre-Budget Report approved by Cabinet on 13th December 2022 
which has since been subject to a period of public consultation. The proposals within this report 
will now form the basis of the Council's final revenue and capital budget for 2023/24 incorporating 
the following details: 
 

 Gross budgeted spend of £812m (£63m or 8% higher than 2022/23).  

 Net budgeted spend of £261m (£23m or 10% higher than 2022/23) funded from 
Council Tax and Business Rates less a tariff payment of £20.5m due to Government.  

 A Council Tax Requirement of £164.4m (£11.0m or 7% higher than 2022/23), 
reflecting a City Council Tax increase of 4.9% detailed in the separate Council Tax 
Setting report on today’s agenda.  

 A number of new expenditure pressures, policy priority proposals and technical 
savings proposals.  

 A Capital Strategy including a Capital Programme of £159.2m  including expenditure 
funded by Prudential Borrowing of £19.6m. 

 An updated Treasury Management Strategy, Capital Strategy and a Commercial 
Investments Strategy. 

 
The financial position in this Budget Report is based on the Final 2023/24 Local Government 
Finance Settlement. The Settlement includes some variations to the core position and specific 
grant allocations received in 2022/23 which provide some additional resources to help the 
Council manage the pressures it faces, in particular in relation to social care and the wider costs 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 

of inflation. The position after 2023/24 remains uncertain despite the Government’s medium-term 
spending plans being set out in the Autumn Statement published in November 2022. Reviews in 
relation to the local government financial allocation model and Business Rates retention are not 
now expected within the current parliament and will therefore not be in place for 2024/25 Budget 
Setting. The overall local government settlement for 2024/25 is expected to broadly mirror the 
2024/25 position but has not been set out at an individual authority level. As a result it is 
impossible to provide a robust medium term financial forecast at this stage and the Council has 
instead made some planning estimates for future years. Initial assumptions indicate the likelihood 
that there will be a substantial gap for the period following 2023/24. The view of the Interim Chief 
Executive (Section 151 Officer) is that the Council should be planning for such a position. 
 
The Pre-Budget Report was based on an increase in Council Tax of 4.9% and this position has 
been maintained for the final proposals in this report. This incorporates an increase of 2.9%, 
which is within the Government’s limit of 3% above which a referendum would need to be held 
plus a further 2% Adult Social Care (ASC) Precept line with Government expectations. The 
Precept was trailed in the Autumn Statement 2022 and included in the Local Government 
Settlement as the means for councils to maintain their “core spending power”. The precept is 
essential to enable councils including Coventry to manage increases in the costs of care. In total, 
the rise in Council Tax bills will be the equivalent of around £1.60 a week for a typical Coventry 
household including the expected rises in the precepts for Police and Fire.  
 
The Local Government Finance Settlement has helped the Council to close the significant 
financial gap which it had at the start of the Budget process. Further measures include the 
identification of additional Council Tax resources and a range of technical adjustments and newly 
identified cost savings or income streams.  All these proposals are set out in detail in Appendix 1. 
Where these are different to the proposals that were included in the Pre-Budget Report, this has 
been indicated within the appendix and shown in tables 2 and 3. There are no new service 
savings required as a result of this budget. 
 
The proposals do not provide the Council with a balanced budget beyond 2023/24. The Council’s 
current medium term bottom line incorporates a combination of future inflationary and service 
pressures and the fall-out of uncertain specific grant resources. Some of the future funding 
assumptions are speculative at this stage and will be revised towards the end of 2023 as any 
changes to local government finance resulting from the 2024/25 Settlement are made known. 
The initial approach will however be dictated by an intention to review and update technical 
information as it becomes available to the Council and to identify further efficiencies from, or 
generate further income within, Council services. The Council is seeking currently to update its 
policy priorities and these will included as part of the ‘One Coventry Plan’ which will be approved 
later this year. Through 2023 it will also refine and implement a programme of activity designed 
to review how best to deliver its services, improve integration between some of them and 
optimise the effectiveness of others.   
 
Whatever the future holds for national changes to local government finance the Council remains 
committed to strengthening its own financial self-sustainability and the need to support the 
vibrancy and growth of the city. Over the coming year the Council will continue to invest in and 
pursue activities that strengthen its existing financial interests and those of the city although this 
will be done within the restrictions imposed by Government in relation to access to borrowing 
from the Public Works Loans Board. The Council’s view is that a positive and ambitious strategy 
is preferable to a more passive approach which would leave the Council more vulnerable to 
central government and the wider pressures on local government services. The Council’s existing 
financial resilience and its belief in the city’s long-term economic strength mean that this 
continues to be an ideal time to commit to Coventry’s reset and recovery. 
 
The recommended Capital Programme proposals are a key part of the Council’s approach and 
amounts to £159.2m in 2023/24. The proposals reflect the Council’s ambitions for the city and 

Page 12



 

include: extensive highways infrastructure works including specific schemes relating to air quality, 
commencement of the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement (CRSTS) programme that 
include initial packages of the Foleshill and London Road corridor; moving towards the next 
phase of the Very Light Rail project; the Council’s share of capital loan financing to finalise the 
construction phase of the city’s new Materials Recycling Facility; progressing the City Centre 
South redevelopment; and the completion of the second office building within the Friargate 
district of the city. Over the next 5 years the Capital Programme is estimated will total £544m as 
part of on-going investment delivered by and through the City Council.  
 
The annual Treasury Management Strategy, incorporating the Minimum Revenue Provision 
policy, and also the Commercial Investment Strategy are set out. These cover the management 
of the Council’s treasury and wider commercial investments, cash balances and borrowing 
requirements. These strategies and other relevant sections of this report reflect the requirements 
of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Treasury Management 
Code and Prudential Code for Capital Finance, as well as statutory guidance on Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) and Investments.  
 
 
Recommendations: 
 
That Cabinet recommend to Council the approval of recommendations (1) to (5) below. 
 
Council is recommended to: 

 
(1) Approve the Budget proposals in Appendix 1. 
 
(2) Approve the total 2023/24 revenue budget of £812m in Table 1 and Appendix 3, 

established in line with a 4.9% City Council Tax increase and the Council Tax Requirement 
recommended in the Council Tax Setting Report considered on today's agenda.  

 
(3) Note the Interim Chief Executive’s (Section 151 Officer) comments confirming the 

adequacy of reserves and robustness of the budget in Section 5.1.2 and 5.1.3. 
 

(4) Approve the Capital Strategy incorporating the Capital Programme of £159.2m  for 2023/24 
and the forward commitments arising from this programme totalling £544m between 
2023/24 to 2027/28 detailed in Section 2.3 and Appendix 4. 

 
(5) Approve the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision 

Statement for 2023/24 in Section 2.4 and the Prudential Indicators and limits described 
and detailed in Appendix 6a, the Commercial Investment Strategy for 2023/24 in Section 
2.5 and Appendix 5 and the Commercial Investment Indicators detailed in Appendix 6b. 

 
 
List of Appendices included: 
 

Appendix 
Number 

Title 

1 -  Budget Financial Proposals – Changes to Base Position 

2 -  Consultation Responses 

3 -  Summary Revenue Budget 

4 -  Capital Programme 2023/24 to 2027/28 

5 -  Commercial Investment Strategy 

      6a&b -  Prudential and Investment Indicators 

Page 13



 

  

Other useful background papers: 
 
None 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
 
No  
 
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?  
 
No  
 
Will this report go to Council?  
 
Yes – 21st February 2023 
  

Page 14



 

Budget Report 2023/24 
 
1. Context (or background) 
1.1 This report seeks approval for the 2023/24 Revenue Budget and corresponding Council 

Tax rise, Capital Programme and Strategy, Treasury Management Strategy, Commercial 
Investment Strategy and associated investment and prudential indicators. The report 
includes detail of the resources included within the 2023/24 Government funding 
allocation and forecasts of the Council’s medium term revenue financial position. The 
revenue budget proposals in this report follow on from the Pre-Budget Report approved 
by Cabinet on 13th December 2022. They have been established in line with the Council’s 
current One Coventry Council Plan and the Medium Term Financial Strategy.  

 
1.2 The Government announced the Final Local Government Finance Settlement for 2023/24 

on 6th February 2023. The settlement provides a core funding level which includes 
additional and adjusted grant funding streams and improves the Council’s financial 
position compared with that assumed at the start of the Budget process. The budget 
position shown assumes that any continuing and legacy impacts of Covid will be 
managed within the Council’s financial envelope. It is now clear that previously planned 
Government changes to the local government finance system will not be implemented in 
2023/24 or 2024/25 and until greater certainty is provided the Council will use the best 
estimates available. At this stage, these estimates assume continuation into future years 
of the majority of the core grant funding streams announced for 2023/24.  
 

1.3 The Government’s Autumn Statement 2022 indicated at a headline level that local 
government funding would be broadly flat after 2023/24. This provides a degree of 
assurance that the period of year on year local government funding reductions has come 
to an end. However, the impact of future social care and demographic changes and the 
continuing impact of inflation mean that local government is likely to suffer real-terms 
reductions in funding going forward. In addition, the scope for variations in the future 
allocation methodology and the distribution of specific grants adds further jeopardy for 
individual councils, including Coventry. In response, the Council is planning to identify 
more efficient and coordinated ways of working across a range of services in future under 
its One Coventry approach. This will include taking a more co-ordinated approach to how 
some services are delivered across the Council and the city alongside partners and 
continuing to pursue commercial options where these arise and are in line with 
Government regulation and sector guidance.  

 
1.4 At the start of the current Budget process the Council faced a budget deficit of £17m for 

2023/24. This position has been made worse by forecast financial pressures for the year 
ahead, including those caused by inflation, social care and other key services including 
housing and refuse collection. Following the Autumn Statement announcement in 
November the Council changed its forecasts of Government funding levels and the 
assumed maximum permissible rises for Council Tax and the Adult Social Care precept 
which were increased compared with previous forecasts. These and the incorporation of 
new technical savings proposals improved the financial position such that the Pre-Budget 
Report showed a balanced year one position pending the Government’s Provisional Local 
Government Settlement, released in December. The subsequent Local Government 
Finance Settlement refined the detailed proposals on specific grant resources which 
together with a small number of other technical changes has allowed a balanced Budget 
position to be achieved in 2023/24 and a reduced financial gap in future years compared 
with the Pre-Budget Report. 

 
 
 
 

Page 15



 

 
1.5 For 2023/24 councils nationally have the flexibility to increase Council Tax by up to 3% 

without holding a local referendum on the matter with further ASC precept flexibility of 2%. 
The Pre-Budget Report was approved on the basis of an overall Council Tax rise of 4.9% 
- within the parameters of these flexibilities - and the budget being proposed in this report 
maintains this position. 
 

1.6 The Council and city have witnessed large and sustained programmes of infrastructure 
and other capital investment works over recent years. The next phases of this are set out 
in the Capital Programme in section 2.3 and Appendix 4. A large part of the Programme 
reflects the Council’s success in attracting external grant funding into the city, working 
with the West Midlands Combined Authority to secure resources as part of the Devolution 
Deal and the City Region Sustainable Transport plan and developing local self-financing 
projects within the city. The scale and breadth of this programme continue to be large in a 
historical context. Council has been informed previously of the significant challenge in 
managing the number and size of complex and overlapping projects within a relatively 
compact city and tight timescales, although for the most part the Council’s capital projects 
have maintained good momentum. In terms of the wider Capital Programme it is worth 
emphasising that the vast majority of the funding to deliver these schemes comes from 
sources that can only be used in one-off capital schemes and therefore is not available to 
support the revenue budget.  

 
1.7 The overall Council Capital Programme is estimated to be c£544m over the next 5 years. 

The city’s aspiration continues to be to spearhead growth, economic development and job 
creation in the city and greater self-sufficiency for the City Council through the generation 
of higher tax revenues, wider economic prosperity and lower deprivation levels amongst 
citizens. The national economic and political context, including the stucture of any future 
Business Rates Retention model, will play a factor in the degree to which this can be 
achieved over this period but the Council will continue to explore a range of options that 
increase the degree of control that it has over its own financial destiny.  

 
1.8 Whilst local authorities have been required to have a treasury management strategy, 

more recent statutory government guidance has extended these requirements to other 
commercial investments, including service loans, shares and investment properties. The 
guidance seeks to ensure that authorities have strong commercial risk management 
arrangements and that such investments are proportionate, relative to the size and 
financial capacity of the authority. The Council’s arrangements in this regard are set out in 
the Capital Strategy, Commercial Investment Strategy and associated investment and 
prudential indicators referred to above. 

 
1.9 Revenue Resources 
 
1.9.1 The Council's total revenue expenditure is funded from a combination of resources as set 

out in the table below:  
 
Table 1: Funding of Revenue Budget 
 

2022/23 

£000s 

 
2023/24 

£000s 

Change 
from 22/23 

£000s 

Change 
from 22/23 

% 

(153,394) A: Council Tax Requirement (164,440) (11,046) 7% Increase 

(103,328) B: Business Rates Income (116,573) (13,245) 13% Increase 

19,300 C: Tariff 20,511 (1,211) 6% Increase 

Page 16



 

     

(402,668) D: Specific Grants   (432,543) (29,875) 7% Increase 

(108,743) E: All Other Income (118,972) (10,229) 9% Increase 

     

(237,422) 
Funding of Net Budget (A + B 

+ C) 
(260,502) (23,080) 10% Increase 

     

(748,833) 
Funding of Gross Budget (A + 

B + C + D + E) 
(812,017) (63,184) 8% Increase 

 

Line A above reflects the city Council Tax increase of 4.9% and a higher tax-base. In addition to 
other Fees and Charges, line E includes Council Tax and Business Rates Collection Fund 
surpluses/deficits, dividend payments and contributions from reserves.  

 
1.9.2 Limited information is available currently about the level of resoures that will be available 

to the Council in future. This will be subject to decisions over the Government’s spending 
plans and any changes in the Local Government Finance model which the Government is 
continuing to assess. The Council’s medium term financial forecast reflected in Appendix 
1 makes planning assumptions about the one-off grants available in 2023/24 that will 
continue into 2024/25 although this cannot be used as a reliable indication at this stage. 

 
1.9.3 The Council is in a similar position to many councils having experienced significant 

reductions in the resources it has received from Government since 2010. In efforts to 
maximise the benefit realisable within the current system Coventry is currently a member 
both of the Coventry and Warwickshire Business Rates Pool and the West Midlands 
Business Rates Pilot, the latter of which enables the Council to retain 99% of Business 
Rates. Both these mechanism have enabled the Council to improve its overall resource 
position by a modest degree over recent years. 

 
1.9.4 As a result of lower resource settlements from Government and 99% Business Rates 

retention the Council needs to make a tariff payment to Government in contrast to the top-
up payment that it used to receive from Government under previous funding 
arrangements. This tariff payment now stands at £20.5m for 2023/24 which is marginally 
higher than the previous year. This indicates that the Council is judged by Government to 
be earning a greater level of Council Tax and retained Business Rates (plus specific 
grants) than it requires for its assessed spending needs. This position reflects a 
combination of cuts to Government funding for local government and to a limited degree, 
indications that the Council has a degree of self-reliance (in relative terms compared to 
other areas) and is able to fund its own spending requirements. It is important to treat this 
assessment with caution given that the city continues to have some high levels of need 
and areas of deprivation. Nevertheless, it emphasises the importance for the Council of 
generating greater resilience and prosperity in the local economy in order for the city to be 
able to support itself under the Government’s intention for local government to become 
more self-sufficient.  

 
1.9.5 In overall terms budgeted specific revenue grant funding is increasing between 2022/23 

and 2023/24 from £403m to £433m. The largest grant allocations are for Dedicated 
Schools Grant (£188m), Housing Benefit Subsidy (£68m), various social care funding 
streams (£55m), grants relating to Business Rates (£26m), Public Health (£23m), Pupil 
Premium (£10m), Private Finance Initiatives (£9m) and Adult Education funding (£5m). 

 

Page 17



 

1.9.6 The Council’s capital and revenue programmes, including treasury and commercial 
activities, are managed in parallel through consolidated planning, in year monitoring and 
year end processes, within the context of the Medium Term Financial Strategy. The 
Constitution, including the Financial Procedure Rules, set out thresholds that determine 
the level at which financial approval is required by officers or the appropriate member 
forum, up to Council. Central to the approach is the the principal that recommendations 
are supported by appropriate business cases. 

 
2. Options considered and recommended proposal 

 
2.1 Section Outline 
 
2.1.1 This section details the specific proposals recommended for approval within the revenue 

budget. Section 2.2 below outlines the changes that have occurred to the financial 
proposals since the Pre-Budget Report in December. The full list of final proposals is 
provided in Appendix 1. Approval is being sought for these and the overall budget and 
Council Tax Requirement in Appendix 3. These are based on a City Council Tax rise of 
4.9% which includes an Adult Social Care Precept of 2%. 
 

2.1.2 The report seeks approval for a 2023/24 Capital Programme of £159.2m compared with 
the initial 2022/23 programme of £145.1m. The Programme is considered in detail in 
Section 2.3 and Appendix 4. 
 

2.1.3 The report is also required formally to seek Council approval for the Treasury 
Management Strategy (Section 2.4), the Commercial Investment Strategy (Appendix 5) 
and the Prudential and Investment Indicators (Appendix 6a and 6b).  
 

2.2 Revenue Budget 
 

2.2.1 The budget includes the saving and expenditure proposals included within the Pre-Budget 
Report approved by Cabinet on 13th December 2022 as a basis for Pre-Budget 
consultation. A line-by-line impact of how these proposals affect the base budget is given 
in Appendix 1 with an indication of where there have been changes to the figures 
included within the Pre-Budget Report. The summary and detailed changes since the Pre-
Budget Report are shown in tables 2 and 3 below. These changes enable the Council to 
deliver a balanced budget for 2023/24 but indicate that a financial gap will arise based on 
known current conditions for subsequent years. 
 

Table 2: Summary Changes to Pre-Budget Report Position 
 

 2023/24  

£m 

2024/25  

£m 

2025/26 

£m 

Pre-Budget Report Position 0.0 30.3 42.3 

Change to Resources 3.8 (7.6) (10.3) 

Change to Service & Technical 
Pressures 

1.5 1.0 2.0 

Change to Service & Technical 
Savings 

(5.3) (3.7) (3.3) 

Sub-Total: Changes From Pre- 0.0 (10.3) (11.6) 

Page 18



 

Budget Position 

Final Budget Position 0.0 20.0 30.7 

 
 

Table 3: Detailed Changes in Proposals Compared with the Pre-Budget Report Position 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2.3 Capital Strategy and Expenditure Programme  
 
2.3.1 Under the Prudential Code authorities are required to produce a Capital Strategy that 

covers a broad range of capital related issues including: capital expenditure and 
resourcing; borrowing and liabilities, and their repayment through Minimum Revenue 
Provision; loan commitments and guarantees; and treasury and commercial investments. 
These areas are covered either in this section or elsewhere in this report where  
appropriate (e.g. the Treasury Management Strategy or Commercial Investment 
Strategy). 

 
Appx 
1 Line 

Ref 

2023/24  

£m 

2024/25  

£m 

2025/26 

£m 

Pre-Budget Report Position  0.0 30.3 42.3 

Local Government Settlement 1 (2.1) (2.1) (2.1) 

Local Government Settlement Grants Rolled In 1a 0.5 0.5 0.5 

Local Government Settlement - Lower Tier 
Services Grant  

3 0.6 0.0 0.0 

Local Government Settlement - 2022/23 
Services Grant 

4 2.3 (3.3) (3.3) 

2023/24 Adults' and Children's Social Care 
Grant 

6 0.0 (5.2) (5.2) 

New Homes Bonus  7 (0.7) 0.0 0.0 

Business Rates Indexation  8 2.6 (1.9) (2.4) 

Council Tax & Business Rates Surplus Carry 
Forward  

9 (2.5) 4.0 2.0 

Council Tax/Business Rates Collection Fund 
Including Proposed Council Tax Rise of 4.9%  

10 3.1 0.4 0.2 

Inflation  11 1.3 1.0 2.0 

Fly Tipping Technology (ongoing cost of £38k from 

2024/25) 27a 0.1 0.0 0.0 

Superannuation Triennial Review  28a (1.7) (1.7) (1.7) 

Asset Management Revenue Account 36 (1.9) 0.0 0.0 

West Midlands Combined Authority Levy 40 (1.6) (2.0) (1.5) 

Final Budget Position  0.0 20.0 30.7 

Page 19



 

 
2.3.2 In Appendix 4 there are proposals for a Capital Programme of £159.2m which contains a 

number of strategically significant schemes. The 2023/24 Programme shown compares 
with the current projected 2022/23 programme of £159.5m. A full 5-year position is 
detailed in Appendix 4 with the main planned expenditure as follows: 
 

 Very Light Rail Regional Programme – total CRSTS allocation of £71.7 million, of 
which £54.5 million is specifically for the delivery of the Very Light Rail City Centre 
Demonstrator route within Coventry. 

 £23.8m of investment in the city's highways and transportation infrastructure. This 
includes the commencement of delivering the CRSTS programme. Specifically 
early works for Foleshill Transport Package improvements focussed on the 
Foleshill Road corridor along with transport improvements focussed on the London 
Road corridor supporting the Gigafactory and other developments planned for the 
Coventry Airport area.  

 £6.7m left to deliver by summer 2023-24 to implement the local plan for NO2 
(Nitrogen Dioxide) Air Quality compliance for the city. The package of measures 
includes delivering works to Coundon Cycleway, Arches Spon End Pinchpoint and  
Ring-Road Junction 7. There are a range of other projects that complement this 
package of measures by encouraging the uptake of zero emission vehicles.  
These include the installation of one of the most extensive networks of electric 
vehicle charging points in the country. These measures are further supported by 
the commencement of delivering the Binley Cycleway from the City Centre to 
Walsgrave Hospital. 

 £1.8m for the public realm 6 programme of works that will focus on improving 
security, lighting and refreshing areas surrounding Broadgate, The Precinct, Priory 
Place and the Cathedral. The schemes will deliver high quality improvements to 
strategic areas of the city and also enhance the setting of the key events venues 
and visitor attractions. 

 A £27.9m programme in 2023/24 within the Education and Skills Portfolio, 
investing in secondary schools provision under the Education One Strategic Plan 
including the start of the Woodlands Schools development. 

 Investment in wholly owned council company, Tom White Waste in the form of a 
commercial loan for the delivery of a recycling infrastructure aiding the growth and 
ongoing development of the company. 

 £0.5m of additional resource for the Coventry Station Masterplan Scheme as 
paragraph set out below. 

 
2.3.3 The 2023/24 Programme requires £19.6m of funding from Prudential Borrowing, including 

schemes previously approved for the replacement vehicle programme, the completion of 
first phase of the Collection Centre design costs, secondary schools extension and the 
approved funding for acquisition and refurbishment of properties to support the homeless. 
Over the course of the future 5 year programme set out, the Council is set to incur £103m 
of borrowing. This borrowing has been the subject of previous decisions and will, 
overwhelmingly, be supported by business cases that have identified income streams to 
cover the capital financing costs, all of which is factored into the Council’s medium term 
financial plans. In relation to the Council’s existing level of borrowing this adds to the 
Council’s external indebtedness.  
 

2.3.4 Following successful completion of the physical works on the Coventry Station Masterplan 
in March 2022, discussions to conclude the complex commercial and technical matters 
have been progressing. However, there are several technical matters that still require 
close-out. A prolonged close-out will result in additional cost pressures and so is being 
treated as a priority with high level discussions on-going between the relevant parties. 
The latest position is a projected overspend of up to circa £500k against the £80m project 

Page 20



 

budget, which has been earmarked to be resourced from capital receipts. Approval is 
sought as part of the overall Capital Programme detailed within this report. 
 

2.3.5 In addition to the opportunities to receive additional external funding, the Interim Chief 
Executive (Section 151 Officer) will continue to explore options to fund the programme in 
the most appropriate way depending on the balance of resources, including using capital 
receipts to reduce the overall need to borrow. In reality, any displacement of borrowing 
from this source is likely to be at a comparatively low level based on the current level of 
available receipts. In addition to the Prudential Borrowing referred to above, the other 
main source of funding for the 2023/24 Capital Programme is £124m of Capital grants as 
follows. 
 
Table 4: Capital Grant Funding 
 

Grant 
2023/24 

£'000 
2024/25 

£'000 
2025/26 

£'000 
2026/27 

£'000 
2027/28 

£'000 

Total 
£m 

Disabled Facilities Grant 7.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 4.2 26.2 

Department for Transport 5.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.9 

Education Funding Agency 16.3 6.7 28.3 2.5 2.4 56.2 

West Midlands Combined Authority 89.8 38.2 33.7 19.8 0 181.5 

Ministry of Housing, Communities & 
Local Government 

2.0 6.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 8.3 

All Other Grants & Contributions 3.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.0 

TOTAL PROGRAMME* 124.0 56.8 67.0 27.3 6.6 281.7 

 
*Totals are subject to minor rounding differences. 

 
2.3.6 The programme is based on an approach to the capitalisation of expenditure set out 

within the acounting policies section of the Council’s Statement of Accounts. This 
approach is based on proper accounting practices, amended as required by local 
government capital finance regulations. In broad terms assets are treated as capital 
where they have a useful life of longer than one year and are not intended for sale during 
the normal course of business. 

 
2.3.7 Forecast Capital Expenditure and Resourcing Programme 
 The Programme included has been evaluated to identify a likely best profile of spend 

based on current knowledge of individual projects. In part this is to maximise the amount 
of programmed expenditure to meet expectations of grant funding bodies but there are 
also local expectations to inject momentum into the programme to ensure sufficient 
progress is made. In overall terms, 2023/24 will continue at a relatively lower level of 
programme spend than witnessed in some recent years but nevertheless involves a 
number of complex and overlapping projects. Section 5.1.4 recognises the risks inherent 
in this. Given the innovation involved in some of the projects, the milestones that need to 
be achieved to satisfy grant funding bodies and the potential for delay given the 
interdependency of some schemes, it should be recognised that the profile for some 
schemes could shift significantly between years, with the potential for expenditure being 
rescheduled into later periods.  

 
 A summary of the proposed programme including existing commitments and funding 

sources is outlined below. This includes expenditure rescheduled into 2023/24 as a result 
of the 2022/23 budgetary control process. Full details of the proposed programme are 
included in Appendix 4.  

Page 21



 

 
 
 
Table 5: 2023/24 – 2027/28 Capital Programme (Expenditure & Funding)  

 

 
2.3.8 Generation of Capital Receipts 

 
The Council reviews the opportunity to generate capital receipts in order to support capital 
investment and reduce the reliance on Prudential Borrowing to fund spend. Whilst the 
Council considers all assets in looking to generate receipts, it will seek to do so in 
particular where these are surplus to operational requirements or yield little or no income. 
As capital receipts, the proceeds from such disposals can only be used to fund new 
capital expenditure or repay debt, but cannot ordinarily be used to fund revenue 
expenditure. Based on the review of the potential to generate receipts, the following table 
sets out the Council’s current forecast of capital receipts flows and expenditure 
commitments, although these are subject to change given the nature of activity in this 
area. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Portfolio Expenditure 
2023/24 

£’000 
2024/25 

£’000 
2025/26 

£’000 
2026/27 

£’000 
2027/28 

£’000 
Total 
£’000 

Policy and Leadership 1,108 0 0 0 0 1,108 

Children & Young People 1,450 100 100 100 200 1,950 

Education & Skills 27,958 17,618 33,487 2,487 2,414 83,964 

Jobs & Regeneration 76,646 27,086 69,053 16,697 112,447 301,929 

City Services 42,355 46,999 11,398 11,972 3,713 116,437 

Adult Services 6,964 5,000 5,000 5,000 4,182 26,146 

Public Health & Sport 125 150 150 237 1,729 2,391 

Housing & Communities 2,580 7,478 0 0 0 10,058 

TOTAL PROGRAMME 159,186 104,431 119,188 36,493 124,685 543,983 

Funding 
2023/24 

£’000 
2024/25 

£’000 
2025/26 

£’000 
2026/27 

£’000 
2027/28 

£’000 
Total 
£’000 

Management of Capital Reserve 1,273 100 100 100 200 1,773 

Capital Unringfenced Receipts 4,943 4,886 0 0 0 9,829 

Capital Ringfenced Receipts 7,003 5,654 0 0 0 12,657 

Prudential Borrowing 19,593 31,565 47,987 2,133 1,713 102,991 

Grant 123,969 56,787 66,982 27,325 6,596 281,659 

Capital Expenditure from Revenue 84 2,909 2,969 5,698 113,447 125,107 

Section 106 2,321 2,530 1,150 1,237 2,729 9,967 

TOTAL PROGRAMME 159,186 104,431 119,188 36,493 124,685 543,983 

Page 22



 

 
Table 6: Forecast Capital Receipts 

 

 2022/23 
£000s 

2023/24 
£000s 

2024/25 
£000s 

2025/26 
£000s 

Forecast (Receipts Brought 
Forward)/Receipts Shortfall 

(31,188) (32,276) (21,324) (6,998) 

Forecast New Receipts (12,085) (3,062) (13,214) (2,389) 

Total Receipts (43,273) (35,338) (34,538) (9,386) 

Commitments 10,997 14,014 27,540 5,000 

Receipts Shortfall/(Receipts 
Carried Forward) (32,276) (21,324) (6,998) 

 
(4,386) 

 

 
2.3.9 Guarantees, Loan Commitments and Other Liabilities 

The Council’s long term liabilities comprise two main elements: the long term borrowing 
set out in the Treasury Management Strategy (section 2.4) and the pension fund liability 
of £615m (31st March 2022). The pension deficit crystalises over time as payments to 
scheme members become due. However, the net position on the pension fund tends to 
fluctuate year on year, being dependent on a number of variables, including life 
expectancy levels, inflation and investment returns. Contributions are set in order to 
manage the deficit over the longer term, reflecting the nature of the liability. 
 
The Council has made loans to a number of external partners which are summarised in 
the Commercial Investment Strategy attached as an appendix. The total value of loans 
provided or committed is £88m. Where the Council has commited to make a loan, but has 
yet to make the advance, for example in making a forward treasury investment or in 
agreeing a loan facility to be advanced over time, such loan commitments are taken into 
account in managing the Council’s overall investment exposure.  
 
The Council currently provides a small number of guarantees to third parties, for example 
in respect of long term pension liabilities. One benefit of this type of arrangement is that a 
smaller pension contribution can be secured for the organisations in question, as a 
consequence of the Council’s longer term credit strength. Such guarantees can be 
historic, arising through the Council’s past relationships with those organisations. In 
providing guarantees the Council is accepting risk, and each is reviewed on a case by 
case basis, taking into account the overall level of risk exposure. 
 

2.3.10 Capital Financing Requirement 
 

Taking into account the planned programme set out in the Table 5 above, the estimated 
Capital Financing Requirrement (CFR), representing the underlying need to borrow for 
capital investment purposes, is detailed in the following table below: 
 

Table 7 : 2023/24 Capital Financing Requirement (including PFI & Finance Leases) 
 

Forecast CFR Movements 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £m £m £m £m £m 

Opening CFR - 1st April  513.3 515.5 514.8 523.7 546.2 

Capital Spend met form borrowing 21.4 19.6 31.6 48.0 2.1 

Minimum Revenue Provision  -17.4 -18.3 -20.5 -23.1 -23.2 

Other -1.8 -2.0 -2.2 -2.4 0.0 

Closing CFR - 31st March  515.5 514.8 523.7 546.2 525.1 

Page 23



 

 
Over the 5 years from 1st April 2022, it is forecast that the CFR will increase marginally 
reflecting the the level of the borrowing required to meet the capital programme, less 
amounts set aside to repay debt as Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).  

 
2.3.11 Revenue Budget Implications 

The revenue cost of the proposed Capital Programme, in the form of interest on debt, plus 
the amount set aside as MRP to repay debt is the total general fund capital financing cost. 
It is forecast that these financing costs will increase from £37.9m in 2022/23 to £44.7m in 
2025/26, reflecting the increased capital expenditure to be resourced by borrowing. Due 
to the long term nature of capital expenditure and financing, the revenue budget 
implications of expenditure incurred in the coming years will extend for up to 50 years, in 
line with the Council’s Minimum MRP policy set out in Section 2.4.4. 
 

2.3.12 The Section 151 Officer considers that the capital strategy, including the capital 
expenditure programme and resourcing as set out in this report, is prudent, affordable and 
sustainable, and that the level of borrowing and commercial investment income are 
proportionate to the resources available to the Council.  

 
2.4 Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2023/24 

 
2.4.1 Introduction 

Treasury management is the management of the Council’s cash flows, borrowing and 
investments, and the associated risks. The Council has borrowed and invested 
substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss of 
invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  The successful 
identification, monitoring and control of financial risk are therefore central to the Council’s 
prudent financial management. 
Treasury risk management at the Council is conducted within the framework of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the 
Public Services: Code of Practice 2021 Edition (the CIPFA Code) which requires the 
Council to approve a treasury management strategy before the start of each financial 
year. This report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act 
2003 to have regard to the CIPFA Code. 
 
The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main reports each 
year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals. The three main 
reports are; 

- A Treasury Management Strategy (This report) – This provides an outline of how 

investments and borrowings are to be organised over the next three years. The report 

includes an investment strategy and a range of Prudential Indicators to measure and 

manage the Council’s exposure to treasury management risks. The indicators over the 

period 2022/23 to 2025/26 for the treasury and capital programme management are set 

out at Appendix 6a. 

- A Mid-Year Treasury Management Report – This identifies if any amendment to the 

Prudential indicators is necessary and states whether the treasury operations are meeting 

the strategy or whether any policies require revision. 

- An Annual Outturn Report – This provides details of the actual performance of the 

prudential and treasury indicators compared to estimates within the strategy. 

Page 24



 

- In addition to these reports the Cabinet and the Audit and Procurement Committee 

receive quarterly updates through budget monitoring reports to update on treasury 

activity. 

The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) Regulations 2003, require the 
approval of a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) statement setting out the Council’s 
approach. The proposed approach is set out at Section 2.4.4  
 

2.4.2 Economic Environment 
 

Economic Background 
The ongoing impact on the UK from the war in Ukraine, together with higher inflation, 
higher interest rates, and an uncertain economic outlook, are major influences on the 
Authority’s treasury management strategy for 2023/24. The Bank of England (BoE) 
increased Bank Rate by 0.5% in February 2023 to 4%. This followed a 0.5% rise in 
December 2022 and a 0.75% rise in November which was the largest single rate hike 
since 1989.  
 
The November quarterly Monetary Policy Report (MPR) forecast a prolonged but shallow 
recession in the UK with CPI inflation remaining elevated at over 10% in the near-term. 
While the projected peak of inflation is lower than in the August report, due in part to the 
government’s support package for household energy costs, inflation is expected remain 
higher for longer over the forecast horizon and the economic outlook remains weak, with 
unemployment projected to start rising. 
 
The UK economy contracted by 0.3% between July and September 2022 according to the 
Office for National Statistics, and the BoE forecasts Gross Domestic Product (GDP) will 
decline 0.75% in the second half of the calendar year due to the squeeze on household 
income from higher energy costs and goods prices. Growth is then expected to continue 
to fall throughout 2023 and the first half of 2024. 
 
CPI inflation is expected to have peaked at around 11% in the last calendar quarter of 
2022 and then fall sharply to 1.4%, below the 2% target, in two years’ time and to 0% in 
three years’ time if Bank Rate follows the path implied by financial markets at the time of 
the November MPR (a peak of 5.25%). However, the BoE stated it considered this path to 
be too high, suggesting that the peak in interest rates will be lower, reducing the risk of 
inflation falling too far below target. Market rates have fallen since the time of the 
November MPR. 
 
Credit Outlook 
Credit default swap (CDS) prices have generally followed an upward trend throughout 
2022, indicating higher credit risk. They have been boosted by the war in Ukraine, 
increasing economic and political uncertainty and a weaker global and UK outlook, but 
remain well below the levels seen at the beginning of the Covid-19 pandemic. CDS price 
volatility was higher in 2022 compared to 2021 and the divergence in prices between 
ringfenced (retail) and non-ringfenced (investment) banking entities has emerged once 
again. The weakening economic picture during 2022 led the credit rating agencies to 
reflect this in their assessment of the outlook for the UK sovereign as well as several local 
authorities and financial institutions, revising them from to negative from stable. However, 
the institutions on our adviser Arlingclose’s counterparty list remain well-capitalised and 
their counterparty advice on both recommended institutions and maximum duration 
remain under constant review and will continue to reflect economic conditions and the 
credit outlook. 
 
 

Page 25



 

Interest rate forecast  
The Authority’s treasury management adviser Arlingclose forecasts that Bank Rate will 
continue to rise in  2023 as the Bank of England attempts to subdue inflation which is 
significantly above its 2% target. While interest rate expectations reduced during October 
and November 2022, Arlingclose expects Bank Rate to rise to 4.25% by June 2023 under 
its central case, with the risks in the near- and medium-term to the upside should inflation 
not evolve as the Bank forecasts and remains persistently higher. Yields are expected to 
remain broadly at current levels over the medium-term, with 5-, 10- and 20-year gilt yields 
expected to average around 3.5%, 3.5%, and 3.85% respectively over the 3-year period 
to December 2025. The risks for short, medium and longer-term yields are judged to be 
broadly balanced over the forecast horizon. As ever, there will undoubtedly be short-term 
volatility due to economic and political uncertainty and events. 
 

2.4.3 Coventry City Council Position 
 
On 31 March 2023, the Council will hold an estimated £316m of long-term borrowing and 
£40m of treasury investments. This is set out in further detail in the tables below (figures 
included at the nominal value of the debt):  
 
Table 1: Estimated Long-Term Borrowing at 31 March 2023 

 
 

 31 March 
2022 

Actual 

£m 

31 March 
2023 

Forecast 

£m 

External borrowing:  

Public Works Loan Board 

Money Market Loans (Incl. LOBO’s) 

Stock Issue 

West Midlands Combined Authority 

 

Total external borrowing 

 

190.4 

38.0 

12.0 

18.0 

 

258.4 

184.9 

38.0 

12.0 

18.0 

 

252.9 

Other long-term liabilities: 

Private Finance Initiative  

Leases 

Transferred Debt (other authorities) 

Total other long-term liabilities 

 

59.9 

 

8.5 

68.4 

 

56.9 

 

6.5 

63.4 

Total gross external debt 326.8 316.3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 

 
Table 2: Estimated Treasury Investments at 31 March 2023 
 

 31 March 
2022 

Actual 

£m 

31 March 
2023 

Forecast 

£m 

Treasury investments: 

The UK Government 

Local authorities 

Other government entities 

Secured investments 

Banks (unsecured) 

Building societies (unsecured) 

Registered providers (unsecured) 

Money market funds 

Strategic pooled funds  

Real estate investment trusts 

Other investments 

Total treasury investments 

 

19.0 

0.0 

0.0 

0.0 

0.0 

0.0 

0.0 

18.3 

30.0 

0.0 

0.0 

67.3 

 

0.0 

0.0 

0.0 

0.0 

0.0 

0.0 

0.0 

10.0 

30.0 

0.0 

0.0 

40.0 

 
The Council’s current strategy is to maintain borrowing and investments below their 
underlying levels, sometimes known as internal borrowing – the use of balances held from 
sources such as reserves and capital receipts to reduce the amount of external borrowing 
required by the Council.  
 

2.4.4 Borrowing  
 
At 31 March 2023 the Council will hold an estimated £316.3m of long-term borrowing.  
 
The borrowing sums have been used as part of the Council’s strategy for funding previous 
years’ capital programmes. Although local authorities have scope to borrow in advance of 
need, essentially borrowing on the basis of future capital spend, it is proposed that the 
City Council’s current practice of not borrowing in advance of need continues. 
 
The Council’s chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately low risk 
balance between securing low interest costs and achieving certainty of those costs over 
the period for which funds are required. The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the 
Council’s long-term plans change is a secondary objective.  
 
The detailed objectives that underpin the Treasury Management Strategy are: 

 
Borrowing, to: 
 

 Maintain adequate liquidity so that cash requirements are met; 

 Minimise the cost of debt whilst maintaining long term certainty in interest rate exposure; 

Page 27



 

 Manage the total debt maturity profile, having no one future year with a disproportionate 

level of debt repayments; 

 Undertake the restructuring of debt, in order to minimise the costs through actively 

reviewing opportunities for rescheduling. 

Strategic Approach: 
With interest rates forecasting to peak in early 2023, it is likely to be more cost effective in 
the short-term to either use internal resources, or to borrow short-term loans instead. By 
doing so, the Council is able to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone investment 
income) and reduce overall treasury risk. The benefits of internal/short-term borrowing will 
be monitored regularly against the potential for incurring additional costs by deferring 
borrowing into future years when long-term borrowing rates are forecast to fall modestly.  
 
The Council has raised the majority of its long-term borrowing from the Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB) but will consider long-term loans from other sources including banks, 
pension funds and local authorities, while also investigating the possibility of issuing 
bonds and similar instruments, in order to lower interest costs and reduce over-reliance 
on one source of funding in line with the CIPFA Code.  
 
The PWLB is the main, competitively priced, flexible source of loan finance for funding 
local authority capital investment. As such it can be a significant source of liquidity. With 
some limited exceptions, PWLB loans are not available to local authorities that plan to buy 
investment assets primarily for yield, such as property purchased for a financial return, 
where they are not clearly serving some other significant service objective.  
 
In respect of borrowing more generally, the Council may arrange forward starting loans, 
where the interest rate is fixed in advance, but the cash is received in later years. This 
would enable certainty of cost to be achieved without suffering a cost of carry in the 
intervening period. The Council may also borrow further short-term loans to cover cash 
flow shortages. 

 
The main sources of borrowing are: 
• HM Treasury’s PWLB lending facility 

• bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK 

• UK Local Authority and UK public sector bodies 

• UK public and private sector pension funds (except West Midlands Pension Fund) 

• Stock Issue (Bond Issue) 

• UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies created to 

enable local authority bond issues 

 
Other sources of raising capital finance may be by the following methods that are not 
borrowing, but may be classed as other debt liabilities: 
• leasing 

• hire purchase 

• Private Finance Initiative  

• sale and leaseback 

Further detail on alternate funding sources is provided below: 

 UK Local Authority and UK public sector body – Traditionally inter local authority 

borrowing has been used to manage shorter term cashflow demands, but there is now 

greater potential for longer term arrangements. 

Page 28



 

 UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc - This was established in 2014 by the Local Government 

Association as an alternative to the PWLB.  It issues bonds on the capital markets and 

lends the proceeds to local authorities.   

 LOBOs - The Council holds £38m of LOBO (Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option) loans 

where the lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate at set dates, 

following which the Council has the option to either accept the new rate or to repay the 

loan at no additional cost. £10m of these LOBOs have options during 2023/24, and 

although the Council understands that lenders are unlikely to exercise their options in the 

current interest rate environment, there remains an element of refinancing risk.  The 

Council will take the option to repay LOBO loans at no cost if it has the opportunity to do 

so.  

There may be potential to reschedule debt through redeeming existing borrowing early 
and replacing it with borrowing at lower interest rates. The PWLB allows authorities to 
repay loans before maturity and either pay a premium or receive a discount according to a 
set formula based on current interest rates. Other lenders may also be prepared to 
negotiate premature redemption terms. The Council may take advantage of this and 
replace some loans with new loans, or repay loans without replacement, where this is 
expected to lead to an overall cost saving or a reduction in risk. 
 
Given the capital programme and the increase in the underlying need to borrow 
represented by the Capital Financing Requirement and reflected in the Liability 
Benchmark indicator (see 2.4.11 and Appendix 6a), the Council may need to borrow in 
the coming year. Taking account of interest rates, the level of investment balances, the 
objectives underpinning the Treasury Management Strategy and the forecast borrowing 
requirement for 2023/24 and future years, the Section 151 Officer will undertake the most 
appropriate form of borrowing depending on prevailing interest rates at the time. 
 

2.4.5 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
 

Local authorities are required to make prudent provision for the repayment of long term 
capital programme borrowing through a revenue charge (MRP). The aim of prudent 
provision is to ensure that the revenue charge broadly reflects the period over which 
benefit is derived from the capital spend e.g. broadly the life of an asset purchased or 
built.  
It is proposed that the extant charging policy continues: 

 For capital expenditure incurred before 1st April 2008, the Council will set MRP as 
a fixed charge of 2% pa of the relevant element of the Capital Financing 
Requirement, adjusted for the Adjustment A. Under the existing policy approved 
by Council on 23rd February 2016, the impact of this change in methodology is to 
be calculated with effect from 2007/08. In line with the transitional arrangements 
set out in the Statutory Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision any amounts 
calculated will be treated as overpayments of MRP and may therefore be 
incorporated into future calculations of prudent provision. In total, the amount to be 
treated as overpayment of MRP is £35.7m to 2015/16. 

 From 1st April 2008 for all capital expenditure met from unsupported or prudential 
borrowing, MRP will be based on the estimated asset life of the assets, using 
either the annuity or equal instalments calculation method or a depreciation 
calculation starting in the year after the asset becomes operational; 

 MRP for leases brought onto the balance sheet under accounting rules will match 
the annual principal repayment for the associated deferred liability; 

Page 29



 

 Where former operating leases have been brought onto the balance sheet due to 
the adoption of the IFRS 16 Leases accounting standard, and the asset values 
have been adjusted for accruals, prepayments, premiums and/or incentives, then 
the annual MRP charges will be adjusted so that the total charge to revenue 
remains unaffected by the new standard. 

 Voluntary revenue provision will not be made and capital receipts not set aside to 
repay debt, unless approved in line with the financial procedure rules. Amounts 
voluntarily set aside as capital receipts and revenue provision in previous years 
will be treated as overpayments of MRP in line with the Statutory Guidance on 
Minimum Revenue Provision. In total, the amounts to be treated as overpayments 
are : £7.8m (voluntary revenue provision to 2015/16) and £28.9m (voluntary 
capital receipts set aside to 2015/16). 

 
2.4.6 Investments 
 

The Council holds invested funds, representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves held. In the past 12 months, the Council’s 
treasury investment balance has ranged between £88m and £129m, although lower levels 
are expected in the forthcoming year. 
 
The Cipfa Code requires the Council to invest its treasury funds prudently, and to have 
regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest rate of 
return, or yield. The detailed objectives for investment that underpin the Treasury 
Management Strategy are: 

 
Investment, to: 
 

 Maintain the capital security of sums invested, 

 Maintain adequate liquidity; 

 Maximise the revenue benefit by retaining external investments, repaying existing 
loans and avoiding new borrowing as appropriate given prevailing and forecast interest 
rates. 
 
The Council’s aim when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk 
and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving 
unsuitably low investment income. 

 
Strategic Approach: 
Given the current volatility in interest rates and the financial markets, treasury investments 
will therefore include both short-term low risk instruments to manage day-to-day flows and 
longer term instruments where limited additional risk is accepted in return for higher 
investment income to support local services. The main investments used by the Council 
for any surplus cash is  short-term unsecured deposits with banks, building societies, local 
authorities, the government and registered providers, along with Pooled funds such as 
Collective Investment Schemes and money market funds.  This diversification will 
represent a continuation of the approach adopted in 2022/23. 

 
Environmental, social and governance (ESG) considerations are increasingly a factor in 
global investors’ decision making, but the framework for evaluating investment 
opportunities is still developing. The Council has not adopted a formal ESG policy and 
does not currently apply ESG scoring to its investments.  The Council will where possible, 
align treasury management practices with its own relevant environmental and climate 

Page 30



 

change policies. The Council will always strive to obtain the best arrangement in line with 
its investment objectives. 

 
The Council may invest its surplus funds with any of the counterparty types in table 3 
below, subject to the limits shown. 
 
Table 3: Approved counterparties and limits  

 

Sector 
Time limit 

(maximum) 
Counterparty limit Sector limit 

The UK Government 50 years Unlimited n/a 

Local authorities & 
other government 
entities 

25 years £20m  Unlimited 

Secured investments *  25 years  £20m £20m per group  

Banks (unsecured) * 13 months  £10m £20m per group 

Building societies 
(unsecured) * 

13 months  £10m £20m per group 

Registered providers 
(unsecured) * 

5 years  £10m £20m in total  

Money market funds * n/a £20m £100m in total 

Strategic pooled funds n/a £20m per fund £50m per manager 

Real estate investment 
trusts 

n/a £20m per fund £50m in total 

Corporates and Other 
investments * 

20 years £10m £20m in total 

 
This table must be read in conjunction with the notes below: 
 
* A minimum credit rating limit will apply to the Treasury investments in the sectors 
marked with an asterisk. Investments will only be made with entities whose lowest 
published long-term credit rating is no lower than A-. Where available, the credit rating 
relevant to the specific investment or class of investment is used, otherwise the 
counterparty credit rating is used. However, investment decisions are never made solely 
based on credit ratings, and all other relevant factors including external advice will be 
taken into account. 
 
For entities without published credit ratings, investments may be made where external 
advice indicates the entity to be suitably creditworthy.  
 
The Council will usually invest in counterparty types and for duration as identified by their 
treasury advisors. However, where terms allow security of deposit and demonstrate a 
small bail in risk, the Council may invest with ‘local’ counterparties (such as Coventry 
Building Society) in accordance with the limits and amounts in the table above. 
  
Some detail on investment counterparties is outlined below: 

 

 Government - Loans to, and bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by, national 
governments, regional and local authorities and multilateral development banks. These 
investments are not subject to bail-in, and there is generally a lower risk of insolvency, 
although they are not zero risk. Investments with the UK Government are deemed to be 
zero credit risk due to its ability to create additional currency and therefore may be made 

Page 31



 

in unlimited amounts for up to 50 years. This relates to investments with the Debt 
Management Office (DMO), Treasury bills and gilts. 
 

 Secured investments - Investments secured on the borrower’s assets, which limits the 
potential losses in the event of insolvency. The amount and quality of the security will be 
a key factor in the investment decision. Covered bonds and reverse repurchase 
agreements with banks and building societies are exempt from bail-in. Where there is no 
investment specific credit rating, but the collateral upon which the investment is secured 
has a credit rating, the higher of the collateral credit rating and the counterparty credit 
rating will be used. The combined secured and unsecured investments with any one 
counterparty will not exceed the cash limit for secured investments. 

 

 Banks and building societies (unsecured) - Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit 
and senior unsecured bonds with banks and building societies, other than multilateral 
development banks. These investments are subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in 
should the regulator determine that the bank is failing or likely to fail. See below for 
arrangements relating to operational bank accounts. 

 

 Registered providers (unsecured) - Loans to, and bonds issued or guaranteed by, 
registered providers of social housing or registered social landlords, formerly known as 
housing associations. These bodies are regulated by the Regulator of Social Housing (in 
England). As providers of public services, they retain the likelihood of receiving 
government support if needed.   

 

 Money market funds - Pooled funds that offer same-day or short notice liquidity and very 
low or no price volatility by investing in short-term money markets. They have the 
advantage over bank accounts of providing wide diversification of investment risks, 
coupled with the services of a professional fund manager in return for a small fee. 
Although no sector limit applies to money market funds, the Council will take care to 
diversify its liquid investments over a variety of providers to ensure access to cash at all 
times.  

 

 Strategic pooled funds - Bond, equity and property funds that offer enhanced returns 
over the longer term but are more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council to 
diversify into asset classes other than cash without the need to own and manage the 
underlying investments. Because these funds have no defined maturity date, but are 
available for withdrawal after a notice period, their performance and continued suitability 
in meeting the Council’s investment objectives will be monitored regularly. 

 

 Real estate investment trusts (REIT) - Shares in companies that invest mainly in real 
estate and pay the majority of their rental income to investors in a similar manner to 
pooled property funds. As with property funds, REITs offer enhanced returns over the 
longer term, but are more volatile especially as the share price reflects changing demand 
for the shares as well as changes in the value of the underlying properties. 

 

 Other investments - This category covers treasury investments not listed above, for 
example unsecured corporate bonds and company loans. Non-bank companies cannot 
be bailed-in but can become insolvent placing the Council’s investment at risk.  

 

 Operational bank accounts - The Council may incur operational exposures, for example 
though current accounts and merchant acquiring services, to any UK bank with credit 
ratings no lower than BBB- and with assets greater than £25 billion. These are not 
classed as investments but are still subject to the risk of a bank bail-in.  
 

Page 32



 

 Risk assessment and credit ratings – Credit ratings are obtained and monitored by the 
Council’s treasury advisors, who will notify changes in ratings as they occur.  The credit 
rating criteria are those determined by the Fitch crediting rating agency. In addition, the 
Council also has regard to the two other agencies that undertake credit ratings; Standards 
and Poor’s and Moody’s, in determining the lowest acceptable credit quality. Where an 
entity has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails to meet the approved investment 
criteria then: 
 

o No new investments will be made 
o Any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be 
o Full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other investments with 

the affected counterparty 
 

 Other information on the security of investments: The Authority understands that 
credit ratings are good, but not perfect, predictors of investment default.  Full regard will 
therefore be given to other available information on the credit quality of the organisations 
in which it invests, including credit default swap prices, financial statements, information 
on potential government support, reports in the quality financial press and analysis and 
advice from the Authority’s treasury management adviser.  No investments will be made 
with an organisation if there are substantive doubts about its credit quality, even though it 
may otherwise meet the above criteria. 
 
When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all 
organisations, as happened in 2008 and 2020, this is not generally reflected in credit 
ratings, but can be seen in other market measures. In these circumstances, the Authority 
will restrict its investments to those organisations of higher credit quality and reduce the 
maximum duration of its investments to maintain the required level of security. The extent 
of these restrictions will be in line with prevailing financial market conditions. If these 
restrictions mean that insufficient commercial organisations of high credit quality are 
available to invest the Authority’s cash balances, then the surplus will be deposited with 
the UK Government, or with other local authorities.  This will cause investment returns to 
fall but will protect the principal sum invested. 
 

 Investment limits: The Authority has sufficient revenue reserves available to cover 
investment losses but to minimise risk in the case of a single default, the maximum that 
will be invested in any one organisation (other than the UK Government) will be £20 
million. A group of entities under the same ownership will be treated as a single 
organisation for limit purposes.  
 
Limits are also placed on fund managers, investments in brokers’ nominee accounts and 
foreign countries as below. Investments in pooled funds and multilateral development 
banks do not count against the limit for any single foreign country, since the risk is 
diversified over many countries 
 
Table 4: Additional investment limits 
 

 Cash limit 

Any group of pooled funds under the same 
management 

£20m per manager 

Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s nominee 
account 

£50m per broker 

Foreign countries * £20m per country 

 

Page 33



 

*The minimum sovereign rating for countries other than the UK, in whom counterparties 
are located is A- with any investments in countries with a rating below AA+ being 
classified as non-specified investments, subject to a total limit of £10m.  
 
Liquidity management: The Authority uses purpose-built cash flow forecasting software 
to determine the maximum period for which funds may prudently be committed.  The 
forecast is compiled on a prudent basis to minimise the risk of the Authority being forced 
to borrow on unfavourable terms to meet its financial commitments. Limits on long-term 
investments are set by reference to the Authority’s medium-term financial plan and cash 
flow forecast. 
 
The Authority will spread its liquid cash over at least four providers (e.g. bank accounts 
and money market funds) to ensure that access to cash is maintained in the event of 
operational difficulties at any one provider. 

 
2.4.7 Related Matters 
 

The CIPFA Code requires the Council to include the following in its treasury management 
strategy. 

 

 Financial derivatives (Councils) - Local authorities have previously made use of 
financial derivatives embedded into loans and investments both to reduce interest 
rate risk (e.g. interest rate collars and forward deals) and to reduce costs or increase 
income at the expense of greater risk (e.g. LOBO loans and callable deposits).  The 
general power of competence in section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 removes much of 
the uncertainty over local authorities’ use of standalone financial derivatives (i.e. 
those that are not embedded into a loan or investment).  

 
The Authority will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, forwards, 
futures and options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to reduce the overall 
level of the financial risks that the Authority is exposed to. Additional risks presented, 
such as credit exposure to derivative counterparties, will be taken into account when 
determining the overall level of risk. Embedded derivatives, including those present in 
pooled funds and forward starting transactions, will not be subject to this policy, 
although the risks they present will be managed in line with the overall treasury risk 
management strategy. 
 
Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that meets 
the approved investment criteria. In line with the CIPFA Code, the Council will seek 
external advice and will consider that advice before entering into financial derivatives 
to ensure that it fully understands the implications. 

 

 Markets in Financial Instruments Directive - The Council has retained professional 
client status with its providers of financial services, including [advisers, banks, 
brokers and fund managers], allowing it access to a greater range of services but 
without the greater regulatory protections afforded to individuals and small 
companies. Given the size and range of the Council’s treasury management 
activities, the Section 151 Officer believes this to be the most appropriate status. 

 
2.4.8 Other option considered 
 

The CIPFA Code does not prescribe any particular treasury management strategy for 
local authorities to adopt. The view of the Section 151 Officer is that the above strategy 
represents an appropriate balance between risk management and cost effectiveness.   

 

Page 34



 

2.4.9 Treasury Management Advisors  
 
The Council employs consultants, currently Arlingclose, to provide treasury management 
advice. A key element of this is the provision of advice on credit risk and the supply of 
information on credit ratings from the three rating agencies, referred to above. Regular 
review meetings with the advisors provide a vehicle through which quality is managed. In 
addition, within the City Council, senior managers within the Finance service meet on a 
periodic basis to review treasury issues, including the use of advisors. 

 
2.4.10 Treasury Management Staff Training  

 
The Council's process of performance management, of which competency based 
appraisals are central, addresses the training requirements of individuals. Staff with 
involvement in treasury issues attend events, including training courses, seminars and 
networking sessions focused on treasury management as appropriate. 

 
2.4.11 The Prudential Code 

 
The current capital finance framework has historically rested on the principle that local 
authorities can borrow whatever sums they see fit to support their capital programmes, as 
long as they are affordable in revenue terms. The framework requires that authorities set 
and monitor against a number of Prudential Indicators relating to capital, treasury 
management and revenue issues. The indicators are explained and shown in Appendix 
6a. These indicators reflect changes required under the Prudential and Treasury 
Management Codes, which were revised in December 2021: 

 

 Indicator 1, showing the projected capital financing costs of the capital programme 

has been restated to show gross rather than net costs, through the exclusion of  

investment and interest income from the indicator; 

 A liability benchmark indicator has been included to show a longer term projection of 

the Council’s underlying need to borrow against the actual level of borrowing. 

 
2.5 Commercial Investment Strategy 
 
2.5.1 Commercialisation across local government through investment in property, shares and 

loans has come under increasing national scrutiny, particularly where such investment is 
funded through borrowing. A concern is that authorities might overstretch themselves 
relative to their capacity to manage the risk. As some authorities have encountered 
problems with a number of their commercial investments there has been an increased 
focus on the regulatory framework in which authorities operate.  
 

2.5.2 The proposed Commercial Investment Strategy is set out in Appendix 5 and the 
associated Commercial Investment Indicators in Appendix 6b. The Strategy is designed to 
ensure strong risk management arrangements and that the level of commercial 
investments is proportionate in the context of the Council’s overall finances. It is framed 
within the context of the Prudential Code for capital finance revised in December 2021, 
Statutory Government Investment Guidance and the borrowing requirements of the 
PWLB. 
 

2.5.3 The 2021 Prudential Code, which is very much in line with the rules for PWLB borrowing, 
sets out a new framework in which authorities are to manage commercial investments. 
The Code classifies investments as being for one of three purposes: treasury 
management, service delivery or commercial return, held primarily for financial return. 

 

Page 35



 

2.5.4 In respect of investments for commercial return: 
 

 The risks should be proportionate to the authority’s financial capacity – i.e. that losses 
are manageable; 

 Authorities must not borrow to invest primarily for financial return; 

 However, authorities with commercial land and property can invest in maximising its 
value, including repair, renewal and updating of the properties; 

 Financial returns from the investment should be related to the viability of the project or 
only incidentally to the primary purpose; 

 Although authorities are not required to sell commercial investments prior to 
borrowing, they will need to review options for selling such investments before 
borrowing, and annually as part of the treasury or investment strategies. 

 
2.5.5 The financial risks that the Council faces through its investment portfolio can be broadly 

categoriesd as capital value or income risks, with: 
 

 Capital value risks arising from the possibility of a borrower not being able to repay a 
loan, resulting in the need to impair or write off the loan at a cost to the Council. In the 
case of shares or property assets, a fall in value would result in a lower level of capital 
receipt were the Council to sell those assets; 

 Income risks arising from lower levels of dividends, rent or interest income than 
budgeted for. 

 
2.5.6 The Strategy (Appendix 5) is designed to ensure strong risk management arrangements 

and that the level of commercial investments is proportionate in the context of the 
Council’s overall finances. In summary, the key issues addressed in the strategy are: 
 

 The need to explicitly consider the balance between the security, yield and 
liquidity, both at strategic and scheme business case level. The investment 
guidance focuses on security in terms of the value of the asset invested in, and the 
ability of the authority to get back any sums invested; yield as the financial return 
on the investment, either as capital value or income generated, and liquidity as the 
ability to access liquid or cash funds from the assets when required; 

 The setting of indicators to demonstrate the proportionality of the investments to 
the Council. Investments in commercial assets are proportionate to the size of the 
Council, with income from such investments respresenting 9.0% (9.9% in 2022/23) 
of Net Revenue Stream (Indicator 7) and with an asset value of £519.2m 
representing 29% of the Council’s Total assets (Indicator 1); 

 Setting processes that ensure that the risk assessment of commercial investments 
is robust; 

 Ensuring that there is clarity about the contribution that the investments make to 
the authority, both in terms of financial return, but also in service or policy terms; 

 The continuation of the policy that the Council will not invest primarily for yield of 
financial return, in line with both the PWLB borrowing rules and the revised 
Prudential Code. 

 
2.5.7 The strategy sets out the approach to ensuring that the requirements are met, through a 

combination or policies, processes and investment indicators. Specific indicators include 
exposure limits in 2023/24 for investment in service loans and shares, excluding 
fluctuations in value. It is proposed that the current limits of £91m and £55m respectively 
are set for 2023/24 (Appendices 5 & 6b). These figures represent the same limits as set 
for 2022/23. These limits provided combined headroom of c£6m future loan and share 
commitments. Revision of these limits would require the approval of Council.  
 

Page 36



 

2.5.8 In respect of commercial investment exposure, work with the Council’s treasury advisors 
undertaken highlighted that the Council may have a relatively high level of commercial 
investments by value compared to other authorities although not necessarily a 
comparatively high level of reliance on income from those investments. However, there 
are questions over the comparability of data regarding the classification of investments, 
which will be reviewed in 2023. In addition, many of the commercial investments are 
properties that have been held for many years and which are an integral part of the 
economic infrastructure of the city, reflecting past economic regeneration and 
development policies. 
 

2.5.9 Work is currently being undertaken to look at the most relevant way of managing overall 
commercial investment risk. This could involve setting limits to the value of total 
commercial investments, although such an approach wouldn’t adequately reflect the fact 
that may council investments, including property, are held over the long-term, are not 
routinely “traded” and provide significant service benefits. From the wider investment risk 
and resilience perspective, the level of reserves available to an authority is key and one 
option to be considered is for a separate risk management reserve to be established. This 
will be considered as part of the Council’s outturn position. 
 

2.5.10 The challenging economic envoironment of recent times, has seen an increasing demand 
for councils to provide financial support to organisations encountering cashflow and other 
problems. The Council has responded by providing loan finance locally, both direct to 
organisations and also as part of the government’s coronavirus business support 
arrangements. In addition, strategically important service developments such as the 
Materials Recycling Facility have required share and loan financing by stakeholder 
authorities. In financially very uncertain times there is an increased risk of loss when 
making investments and giving support, and this has been seen in different parts of the 
country as developments have encountered financial problems. Within this wider context 
it is likely that greater sums will need to be provided for potential losses that may arise on 
loans provided by the Council. This position will continue to be monitored and will be 
reviewed in detail and provided for as necessary in closing the 2022/23 accounts.   

 
3. Results of consultation undertaken 

 
3.1 The proposals in this report have been subject to public consultation. The Council hosted 

a survey on its website asking for people’s views of the budget proposals and 137 
respondents completed a survey. Two online sessions were held with employees and one 
for residents to hear about the plans and provide feedback. Further opportunity to 
comment was offered to the Trades Unions and the Chamber of Commerce. The details 
arising from the consultation are set out in Appendix 2. 

 
4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 
4.1 Most of the individual changes identified within this report will take effect from 1st April 

2023. The proposed profile of these changes is set out in Appendix 1. 
 
5. Comments from the Interim Chief Executive (Section 151 Officer) and the Chief 

Legal Officer 
 
5.1 Financial Implications 

 
This report is concerned wholly with financial matters. The proposals within this report 
represent the basis of the Council's 2023/24 revenue and capital budget supported by the 
Council Tax Report that will be considered alongside this one.  
 

Page 37



 

5.1.1 Financial implications - Medium Term Position 
This report sets out proposals that will deliver a balanced budget for 2023/24. The new 
funding arrangements that were planned by Government to be put in place have not yet 
occurred so the Council is still planning within an uncertain environment. The significant 
financial gap projected currently for subsequent years demonstrates the need for the 
Council to continue to exercise robust financial disciplines and to take a medium term 
approach to Budget setting. It is reasonable to assume that a large proportion of the new 
one-off funding announced for 2023/24 will be available as ongoing resource for the 
Council in the future and some of this has now been included in future forecasts. 
However, it will not possible to provide a robust forecast of this funding until the 
Government provides further detail as part of future announcements. Despite this, the 
view of the Interim Chief Executive (Section 151 Officer) is that the Council remains in a 
strong position to meet the financial challenges that it is likely to face. This view is based 
on expectations of the trajectory of future funding settlements, the Council’s strong 
reserves position, its focus on income generating commercial activities and its plans to 
streamline and better align its activities with its policy priorities through its One Coventry 
Plan approach.  
 

5.1.2 Financial Implications – Reserves  
The Local Government Act 2003 requires the chief financial officer to give assurance on 
the adequacy of reserves of the Authority for which the budget provides. The final position 
of reserve balances carried forward into 2023/24 will not be known until finalisation of the 
2022/23 accounts and reserve levels will be reviewed at that time. The total revenue 
reserve balances available to the Council at the end of 2021/22 stood at £140m. Other 
reserve balances set aside to fund capital schemes stood at £37m and balances owned 
by the Council’s local authority maintained schools and outside the Council’s control, 
stood at £31m at 31st March 2022. Explanations for the key balances were set out in the 
Council’s Financial Outturn Report considered by Cabinet in July 2022. The level of 
balances is set out in the table below. 

 
Table 12: 2021/22 Reserve Balances 
 

  
1st April 

2021 
(Increase)/ 
Decrease 

31st 
March 
2022 

  £000 £000 £000 

Council Revenue Reserves 
   

General Fund Balance (10,277) 0 (10,277) 

Adult Social Care (13,331) (14,955) (28,287) 

Covid 19 Government Funding (7,558) (3,423) (10,981) 

Private Finance Initiatives (10,994) 1,368 (9,626) 

Early Retirement and Voluntary Redundancy  (9,323) 0 (9,323) 

Corporate Priorities (2020/21 Outturn Underspend) (9,225) 527 (8,698) 

Potential Loss of Business Rates Income (7,735) 0 (7,735) 

Innovation and Development Fund (5,549) 50 (5,499) 

Reset and Recovery (5,467) 0 (5,467) 

Air Quality Early Measures (4,517) 284 (4,232) 

City of Culture Commonwealth Games Readiness (4,964) 1,060 (3,904) 

Management of Capital (4,028) 618 (3,410) 

Commercial Developments (3,750) 402 (3,348) 

Page 38



 

Public Health (1,013) (1,456) (2,469) 

Friargate Lifecycle (1,378) (217) (1,594) 

Insurance Fund  (2,049) 552 (1,497) 

Corporate Property Management (1,394) 25 (1,369) 

Children's Social Care Family Valued Programme  (639) (590) (1,229) 

Adult Education Income  (1,005) (82) (1,086) 

Other Directorate (10,790) (3,827) (14,617) 

Other Corporate  (7,524) 1,681 (5,843) 

Total Council Revenue Reserves  (122,511) (17,982) (140,493) 

    
Extra-Ordinary Item - Covid Business Rates 
Relief 

(48,302) 29,667 (18,635) 

    
Council Capital Reserves 

 
0 

 
Useable Capital Receipts Reserve (24,736) (6,451) (31,187) 

Capital Grant Unapplied Account (1,828) (3,641) (5,469) 

Total Council Capital Reserves (26,564) (10,092) (36,656) 

    
School Reserves 

   

Schools (specific to individual schools) (22,315) (2,750) (25,065) 

Schools (related to expenditure retained centrally) (4,806) (1,121) (5,927) 

Total Schools Reserves (27,121) (3,870) (30,991) 

    
Total Reserves (224,498) (2,278) (226,775) 

 
 
The large majority of the balances above are held for a clear identifiable purpose and 
have existing planned expenditure commitments against them or are held to protect the 
Council manage unforeseen risks, potential or known insurance claims or Business Rate 
volatility. Schools reserves are set aside exclusively for the purpose of supporting schools 
expenditure and capital reserves are set aside to support capital expenditure. Local 
authority reserves must also be viewed in the context of the risks that are faced, set out 
below, in section 5.1.4. For these reasons it is not appropriate to apply reserves on a 
regular basis to support the revenue position. The proposed revenue budget does not 
include any reserve contributions to support the overall revenue position although some 
specific reserve balances will be applied within services to support time-limited projects or 
expenditure.   
 
Given the consideration of risk within the Commercial Investment Strategy it is proposed 
that the level of reserves set aside to take account of the Council’s risk profile will be 
considered as part of the Council’s outturn position. 
 
The most recently published CIPFA Resilience Index contained results indicating that the 
Council’s overall level of reserves placed it in the middle of the pack compared to similar 
authorities although the Council’s ratio of unallocated reserves to revenue expenditure 
placed it in the highest risk quartile. A different indicator showing the change in this 
balance demonstrates that the Council has increased these reserves in recent years, 
moving it away from what was a lower ranking previously. 
 

Page 39



 

Taking all this into account, it is the view of the Interim Chief Executive (Section 151 
Officer) that overall levels are adequate to support the recommended budget for 2023/24. 
This judgement is based on the following: 

 
i) The Council is adequately provided for in terms of its reserves compared to its overall 

level of budget and better provided for than some other similar authorities. 
ii) The level of reserves is sufficient to support contributions to 2023/24 directorate-

based budgets (including schools) and Corporate commitments both for capital and 
revenue purposes. 

iii) The level of uncommitted General Fund Reserves provides a sufficient level of short-
term resource to meet any other unforeseen eventualities (within reasonable limits of 
assessed risk) balanced against pressures to not hold an excessive level of reserve 
balances.  

 
The Council's policy on reserve usage is set out in the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
The overriding aim is to ensure that reserve usage is focused on delivery of the Council's 
corporate priorities, recognising that reserves can only be used once and that they should 
not be used to support on-going expenditure. These balances are reported and 
scrutinised regularly. 
 

5.1.3 Financial Implications – Assurance on the Robustness of the Estimates 
Under the terms of the Local Government Act 2003, the chief financial officer is required 
to give assurance on the robustness of the estimates included in the budget. In the view 
of the Interim Chief Executive (Section 151 Officer) the budget being recommended to the 
City Council is supported by robust estimates of income and expenditure. This judgement 
is based on the following: 

 
i) The budget has been set within the guidelines of the authority's Medium Term 

Financial Strategy that sets out the broad policies and assumptions that lie behind 
the Council's medium term financial planning process. 

ii) There is a medium term financial plan in place that sets out the known changes to 
the current budget over three years incorporating the concept of strictly controlled 
directorate budgets, known policy changes and best estimates of the impact of 
inflationary pressures and expectations of resources. 

iii) The authority operates an integrated medium term policy and financial planning 
process that incorporates a comprehensive and detailed assessment of the new 
policy and technical changes that will affect the proposed budget and the medium 
term budgetary position of the authority. 

iv) Individual services working to strict budgets, prepare detailed budgets that are the 
financial representation of the authority's statutory duties and corporate service 
objectives for the coming year. 

v) The authority's individual services have been involved in the make-up of the 
information included in the policy and financial planning process through the 
Strategic Leadership Team and One Coventry Leadership Team. 

vi) As discussed above, the Authority's level of reserve balances is sufficient to meet 
other unforeseen eventualities, within reasonable limits of assessed risk that may 
potentially need to be met by the authority. 

 
Both of the authority's political groups were provided with information on the policy and 
financial planning process and were consulted on the options available to enable them 
to participate in the final budget setting decisions. 
 
Despite these statements about robustness of estimates and reserves, the challenges 
facing the Council in the next few years will require regular monitoring and potentially 
corrective action. 

Page 40



 

 
5.1.4 Financial Implications - Budget Risks 

In setting the budget and implementing the policies that sit behind it, the Council 
inevitably carries some risk. The major financial risks are set out below and will be 
managed through existing processes, including in year financial monitoring. 
 
Overall Risks - In considering the Council's corporate objectives in the context of its 
financial position, resources have been allocated to meet corporate priorities, and savings 
have been identified. In these circumstances there are inherent risks that new resources 
are not used effectively to deliver corporate objectives and that on-going spending and 
income is not controlled to budgets. Operational management arrangements and 
quarterly monitoring reports in compliance with the Council's budgetary control rules will 
address this issue specifically. 
 

5.1.4.1 Children's Social Care Services – The increased volume of cases, steep inflationary 
increases in the cost of individual placements, challenges in delivering a cost effective 
mix of placement types and the cost of additional staffing to manage the overall caseload 
continues to cause a volatile budgetary position within Children’s care services. The 
current inflationary environment will continue to influence some of the these cost 
pressures over the coming year. This budget is designed to reflect a reasonable forecast 
of the anticipated cost of ensuring safe and secure care for children within the city but it 
should be recognised that this will continue to be an area where the potential exists for 
further budgetary pressure through 2023/24. Within this environment, it remains important 
for work to continue to provide this care in as cost effective manner as possible and 
management is committed to identifying the appropriate mechanisms to do that. 
 

5.1.4.2 Health and Adult Social Care – Adult Social Care services continue to operate within a 
very dynamic environment with cost pressures from significant inflationary pressures 
driven by a substantial increase to the National Living Wage in 2023/24 alongside high 
levels of inflation within other costs across Social Care provision as well as  increasingly 
complex care packages. Whilst capacity and market sustainability pressures are a long 
standing issue in Adult Social Care, these have been exacerbated by additional costs 
during and following the COVID pandemic and significant difficulties in recruitment and 
retention, alongside the widely reported pressures across the health system (a key driver 
of activity into Adult Social Care). With the large increases in inflation seen during the 
2022/23 year which are expected to continue for the immediate future, this adds further 
pressure to a market already heavily under pressure. Alongside this, a funded medium 
term Adult Social Care financial plan remains in place recognising the current estimate of 
the increasing need for additional resources in the future. Nevertheless, this area of 
activity is naturally difficult to predict and the Council needs to continue to ensure an 
appropriate balance between the budget available and the level of activity in line with 
Council policy.  
 

5.1.4.3 Commerical Projects and External Companies – The Council is involved in or 
investigating a range of major commercial acivities and interventions. These include 
major reputational and financial risk from the activites and commercial performance of 
each venture. These include, but are not restricted the following projects: 

 

 Friargate – Joint work with external partners to regenerate a new business district 
involving the construction phases of a second office building and a new hotel. 

 Development of the City Centre South project, working with a major development 
partner to regenerate a large area of the city centre. 

 Work to re-purpose the former IKEA building via the Cultural Gateway project. 

 Financial arrangements made on commercial terms to help support local 
organisations and the Council’s arms length companies. 

Page 41



 

 Development of the Material Recycling Facility within the city through the relatively 
recently formed Sherbourne Recycling Ltd joint venture company. 

 Ownership of and support for the UK Battery Industrialisation Combany (UKBIC)  
Ltd), a project to fast-track the development of cost-effective, high-performance, 
and recyclable batteries which is funded overwhelmingly by grant provided by 
Innovate UK. 
 

These projects are subject to a range of ownership and company structure arrangements, 
complex legal and financial transactions, a risk that commercial pay-back targets (for 
instance to finance prudential borrowing decisions) are not achieved and a wider risk that 
projects do not deliver their fundamental purpose (where this is different to specific 
financial targets). As above, in making decisions to pursue these projects the Council is 
clear that its involvement is consistent with its overarching objectives. In addition, the 
Council undertakes significant due diligence and ensures that self-funding business cases 
support any expenditure to keep the Council’s financial costs (and risk) to a minimum. 
Nevertheless, to the extent that these projects are commercial ventures it must be 
recognised that their future financial performance will always be subject to a degree of 
risk. Decisions that have been taken or that are imminent have required a level of support 
due in part to respond to legacy Covid conditions or those affected by inflation, the cost of 
living crisis and the difficult trading conditions affecting many sectors of the economy and 
some of the Council’s key delivery partners. This has extended the level of involvement 
beyond what might be considered normal. Although each of these increases the risk 
profile for the Council, they are (both collectively and individually) relatively modest 
compared to the Council’s overall activity levels and do not threaten the Council’s 
financial resilience. 
 

5.1.4.4 Major Infrastructure Projects – The Council is involved in a number of major 
infrastructure projects around the city that give it some exposure to a degree of financial 
and reputational risk. These include but are not limited to commencing delivering of the 
CRSTS programme that includes initial packages of work on the Foleshill and London 
Road corridors, plans to develop a Very Light Rail solution across the city and significant 
remodelling of major arterial routes in relation to the improvement of air quality. Other 
schemes of note include the completion of both Binley cycleway and the A45 Eastern 
Green overbridge as part of the Housing Infrastructure Fund works. These projects all 
carry different balances of risk including project overrun, over-spending, expectation to 
meet funding gaps and reputational damage from any of these and other factors. The 
Council is clear that its involvement in these projects is vital to help regenerate the city 
and make Coventry a better place to live, work and do business in. Overwhelmingly, 
these arrangements are externally funded or have self-funding business cases that keep 
the Council’s financial costs to a minimum. Any decisions to move away from this base 
position would need to be made on a case by case basis within the Council’s existing 
resource constraints. 
 

5.1.4.5 Local Government Finance Changes – the local government sector now knows that 
previously indicated wider changes to local government finance are now unlikely to be 
implemented prior to 2025/26. This pushes back some of the resource risk that could 
potentially exist for the Council as a result of any structural reform of the system. 
However, the 2024/25 finance settlement could still witness some changes to the 
distribution of core funding and specific grant allocations across the sector which remains 
a medium term risk. However, due to the nature of accounting for these local income 
sources, the risk applies to future years such that the 2023/24 budget estimates are 
secure.  

 
 
 

Page 42



 

5.2 Legal implications 
  
 The proposals in this report are designed to meet the Council’s statutory obligations in 

relation to setting a balanced 2022/23 budget by mid-March 2023. This includes the duty 
to report to the Council on the robustness of the estimates provided and the adequacy of 
the financial reserves in place. Section 31A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
and Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 refer. 

 
6. Other implications 
  
6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council Plan 
 The Council, in common with all local authorities, continues to be faced with challenging 

resource constraints over the coming years, which has a direct impact on its ability to 
deliver front-line services. The budget is developed within the context of the approved 
Medium Term Financial Strategy, which in turn rests on the principles set out for the City 
within its One Coventry Council Plan. In this way Budget proposals are aligned to existing 
policy priorities. The Council is in the process of rereshing the plan which will be finalised 
during 2023/24 and it will need to ensure that future financial plans are aligned to this. 
There are some initial signs that the Council is moving into a new phase of financial self-
sufficiency and it will want to ensure that its key objectives and financial strategies are 
aligned as this situation develops. 

 
6.2 How is risk being managed? 

 
 The inability to deliver a balanced budget is one of the Council's key corporate risks. The 

proposals within this report are aimed directly at trying to mitigate this risk. The other key 
financial risks are identified in section 5.1.4.  

 
6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 

 
 There are no new savings proposals presently that will impact upon the number of staff 

employed by the Council. Implementation of the One Coventry Plan, continued delivery of 
complex Capital Programme schemes and the adoption of commercially based projects 
mean that the Council will have to continue to adapt to meet the challenges that it faces in 
terms of the way it works. In addition, the Council will need to keep under review the 
extent to which the transition for many Council staff to working from home on a regular 
basis provides a opportunities to identify more efficient ways of delivering services. 

 
6.4 Equalities / EIA  

 
 The savings contained in this year's final Budget report are all broadly technical in nature. 

No equality impact has been identified in relation to these.   
 
6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) climate change and the environment 

 
 The Council is due to update its Climate Change Strategy to support the commitment it 

has made to respond to the climate change agenda. The Capital Programme includes 
schemes including air quality and transport solutions that are all designed to have positive 
impacts on the environment.  

 
6.6 Implications for partner organisations? 

 
 None 
 

Page 43



 

Report author:  
Paul Jennings 
 
Name and job title:  
Finance Manager (Corporate Finance) 
 
Service:  
Finance 
 
Tel and email contact:  
Tel: 02476 977228    
E-Mail: paul.jennings@coventry.gov.uk 
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Service Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

Michelle Salmon / Lara 
Knight 

Governance 
Services Officers 

Law and 
Governance 

7/2/23 7/2/23 

Helen Williamson Lead Accountant Finance 3/2/23 7/2/23 

Sunny Singh Heer Lead Accountant Finance 3/2/23 7/2/23 

Louise Hughes Accountant Finance 3/2/23 7/2/23 

Ewan Dewar Head pf Finance Finance 7/2/23 7/2/23 

Phil Helm Head of Finance Finance 7/2/23 7/2/23 

Michael Rennie Lead Accountant Finance 3/2/23 3/2/23 

Kristi Larsen Insight Team Public Health and 
Wellbeing 

7/2/23 7/2/23 

Names of approvers for 
submission: (officers 
and members) 

  
  

Julie Newman Chief Legal Officer Law and 
Governance 

7/2/23 8/2/23 

Barry Hastie Interim Chief 
Executive (Section 
151 Officer)  

- 
7/2/23 13/2/23 

Councillor R Brown Cabinet Member for 
Strategic Finance 
and Resources 

- 
7/2/23 13/2/23 

 
 

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings  
 

Page 44

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

Starting Budget Gap 16,883 21,240 27,949
This position has been carried forward from 2022/23 Budget Setting and 

reflects all previously approved Budget changes

Resources

1
Local Government Settlement (Change to 

Pre-Budget Report)
(2,083) (2,083) (2,083)

This represents an overal improvement in the local government settlement 

and Business Rates Retention scheme and includes additional resources 

available as part of the updated triennial Busines Rates Revaluation process.

1a

Local Government Settlement Grants 

Rolled In (Change to Pre-Budget 

Report)

488 488 488

This represents funding previously provided in the form of specific grants 

which is now required to be funded within the Council's overall resource 

settlement.Almost all of the value relates to Council Tax Support 

administration costs.

2 National Insurance Reversal 1,000 1,000 1,000

The Government has reversed the decision to increase Employer National 

Insurance which was due to become the Health and Social Care Levy from 

April 2023. The estimated impact of this change in Government grant has 

been matched by an equivalent expected reduction in costs included within 

the Savings section below.

3

Local Government Settlement - Lower Tier 

Services Grant (Change to Pre-Budget 

Report)

0 0 0

The Pre-Budget position assumed that the Council would receive Lower Tier 

Services Grant at a level consistent with 2022/23. The 2023/24 Local 

Government Settlement has confirmed that the Council will not receive any 

grant.

4

Local Government Settlement - 2022/23 

Services Grant (Change to Pre-Budget 

Report)

(3,270) (3,270) (3,270)

The Pre-Budget Report assumed that the Council would receive 2022/23 

Services Grant at a level consistent with 2022/23. The 2023/24 Local 

Government Settlement has confirmed that the Council will receive the lower 

grant level shown here.

APPENDIX 1
BUDGET FINANCIAL PROPOSALS - CHANGES TO BASE POSITION 

P
age 45



5 SR2021 - 2022/23 Social Care Grant (4,309) (4,309) (4,309)

This reflects the continuation of the 2022/23 Social Care Grant continues at a 

level consistent with 2022/23 as determined within the overall 2023/24 Local 

Government Settlement. 

6
2023/24 Adults' and Children's Social Care 

Grant (Change to Pre-Budget Report)
(5,000) (5,212) (5,212)

Resources confirmed in the Settlement to pay for social care, released as a 

result of the delay in Adult Social Care charging reforms.

7
New Homes Bonus (Change to Pre-

Budget Report)
(1,492) 0 0

 New Homes Bonus Grant confirmed in the Settlement at a level tha is higher 

than assumed at Pre-Budget.

8
Business Rates Indexation (Change to 

Pre-Budget Report)
(9,043) (13,538) (14,113)

Previous practice was for Council Business Rates revenue to be inflated each 

year by the September Retail Prices Index (RPI). The 2023/24 Settlement has 

confirmed that this compensation will now be at the Consumer Prices Index 

(which usually runs at a lower lever that RPI) The Council's financial plans 

have previously included an estimate of 1.5% compared to the actual figure of 

10.1% for 2023/24 and then 5% and 2% for the two subsequent years. The 

difference is reflected here as additional unbudgeted revenue.

9

Council Tax & Business Rates Surplus 

Carry Forward (Change to Pre-Budget 

Report)

(8,926) 0 0

This assumes use of an uncommitted surplus within the 2021/22 Collection 

Fund outturn position reflecting a combination of Council Tax base growth, 

lower than budgeted downward amendments and lower than budgeted 

Council Tax Support levels. As a change to the Pre-Budget position the 

surplus available is lower than forecast previously and is now all required in 

2023/24. Higher than previously experienced Business Rates appeals are the 

key reason for a lower forecast level of resources being available.

P
age 46



10

Council Tax/Business Rates Collection 

Fund Including Proposed Council Tax 

Rise of 4.9% (Change to Pre-Budget 

Report)

(1,977) (4,748) (4,893)

This includes £3.1m additional revenue from raising Council Tax by 4.9% 

(including an Adult Social Care Precept of 2%) compared with the previous 

assumption of a 3% rise. It also assumes that further Collection Fund 

resources will become available reflecting a combination of Council Tax base 

growth, lower than previously planned downward amendments and lower than 

previously planned Council Tax Support levels within 2022/23 and in future 

years. Anticipated collection rates are expected to be lower than historical 

trends reflecting current economic circumstances and this has limited the 

extent of resource growth.

Service & Technical Pressures (and policy growth)

11 Inflation (Change to Pre-Budget Report) 15,623 17,694 18,660

This includes a forecast reflecting higher levels of inflation for 2 years 

including pay awards of 4% in 2023/24 and 3% in 2024/25 and increases 

across a range of energy and external contract budgets. It also assumes a 

return to a normalised inflation position from 2025/26 which is already built into 

the Council's future Budget.

12 Adults' Social Care - Inflation 6,642 11,055 15,257

The updated Adult Social Care Financial Model assessment contains inflation 

assumptions relating to the living wage and other price rises within external 

social care contracts. Ths includes the increase in the National Living Wage to 

£10.42 confirmed recently in the Autumn Statement.

13 Adults' Social Care - Demographic Growth 1,126 2,264 3,404
The updated Adult Social Care Financial Model assessment contains some 

expectations of demographic/service number growth. 

14 Children's Social Care - Workforce 2,968 2,764 2,764

Children’s Services has experienced significant workforce pressures, with high 

staff turnover and a high level of vacancies, caused by a shortage of social 

workers to meet the increased demand for children's services, accentuated by 

difficulties in recruiting agency staff to cover those vacancies. 

The strategy to stabilise the workforce includes extending the Social Worker 

Academy, establishment growth to meet the caseholding demand levels and 

clinical supervision programme. The workforce strategy also includes 

evaluating career pathways to promote staff development and retention as 

well as market supplements where the Council's rates are no longer 

competitive with comparable Local Authorities.

P
age 47



15
Legal Casework Capacity - Children's 

Social Care activity levels
400 200 200

The volume of legal casework for looked after children increased over the 

pandemic period and levels still remain high without any significant reduction.  

This makes provision in 2023/24 for current caseloads, and assumes 

caseload reduces slightly in subsequent years to reflect an ongoing process 

review

16
Housing Benefit Subsidy and Discretionary 

Housing Payments
1,500     1,500     1,500     

Increased activity reflecting current trends and the current high cost of living 

environment. This is likely to affect the Council in several ways including 

pressure on the need for supported accommodation, additional non-

reclaimable Housing Benefit subsidy and greater demand for Discretionary 

Housing Payments.

17 Refuse - Domestic 1,050 1,050 1,050
Budgetary provision for the current financial pressure of delivering the 

domestic refuse service.

18 Refuse - Commercial 500 500 500

Permanent financial impact of lost contractual and other income within 

commercial waste service resulting from the HGV driver industrial dispute in 

2022

19 Legal Capacity 170 240 240
Increase in the additional employment costs within the wider legal service to 

reflect activity and retention

20 Insurance 500 500 500

This reflects significant unavoidable increases in insurance premiums and the 

transfer of schools to the Government's national Risk Protection Arrangement 

away from the Council's insurance service. This has led to a loss of school 

insurance contributions not matched by an equivalent reduction in insurance 

cost. The proposal here removes the resulting revenue shortfall and is 

planned to return insurance reserves, used to protect against insurance risk, 

to 75% of required level after 5 years.

21 Coroners 150 150 150

Inflationary cost increases over several years, particularly relating to histology 

and toxicology, together with the appointment of an area coroner have 

resulted in a cumulative financial pressure on the service which requires 

budgetary provision 

22 Elections 225 225 225

The cost of elections in recent years have been funded from a combination of 

a small revenue budget and reserves built up historically.  Reserves have now 

been fully utilised, so this provision reflects the average spend required on 

average each year to fund elections based on their existing cycle

P
age 48



23
Continuation of Coventry & Warwickshire 

Growth Hub Annual Funding
130 130 130

Coventry and Warwickshire Growth Hub plays a crucial role in providing the 

“front door” to the support available to businesses from CCC, other local 

providers and regional/national sources. Funding will be matched by 

Warwickshire County Council, and topped up by the Warwickshire Districts. 

Maintaining this investment is necessary to ensure businesses have access to 

business diagnostic support and our position as a lead partner in local 

business support continues, particularly in the current climate

24 School Transport 220 220 220

Following the collapse of a school bus route supplier during the pandemic the 

Council picked up and contracted for new provision for several key dedicated 

school bus routes without existing budget, although originally funded from 

grant. The routes have been rationalised to a lower level but these remaining 

ones represent the 5 dedicated routes into Bishop Ullathorne Secondary 

school. Due to the location of the school, local transport infrastructure would 

likely be significantly impacted by the removal of these busses. We also 

provide a small subsidy to extend a public transport route into Blue Coat 

Secondary school. These transport costs are currently unfunded.

25 CitiVision 35 35 35

Previous budget decision to make a saving by reducing the number of issues 

and number of pages in CitiVision magazine. Subsequently part of this 

decision was reversed by increasing the number of issues again. To keep 

down costs the previously 24-page publication is now and 8-page but 

significant increases in costs of paper, printing and delivery mean the cost of 

producing the shorter document is almost the same. 

26 SEN Transport 500 500 500

As is being seen nationally the number of SEND pupils within Coventry 

continues to grow. This results in a continuing increase in the number of 

commissioned special school placements, and consequently more children 

and young people requiring specialist transportation to school, including 

transport to schools outside of the city due to local special school provision 

being full. Additionally there have been increases in SEND transport demand 

due to more post-16/19 students remaining in education.

27 Culture & Sport Legacy Capacity 320 320 320

Following the City of Culture and Commonwealth games during 2021 and 

2022, staffing capacity is sought  to capitalise on the year in the spotlight to 

ensure the  delivery of a lasting legacy, whereby cultural and sporting assets, 

opportunities and benefits created in the city are progressed for the benefit of 

future generations

P
age 49



27a
Fly Tipping Technology (change to Pre-

Budget Report)
136 38 38

Provison of one additional Emergency Services Unit officer on an ongoing 

basis. In addition, provision of 4 deployable CCTV Cameras with ANPR (these 

come with 5 years of maintenance and mobile data ‘airtime’) plus additional 

mobile data ‘airtime’ and maintenance on the existing deployable CCTV fleet.

Service and Technical Savings

28 Commercialisation Programme (500) (1,000) (1,500)
Primarily Regional Materials Recycling Facility benefits including commercial 

loan margin, reduced waste disposal haulage costs, and gate fee savings.

28a
Superannuation Triennial Review 

(Change to Pre-Budget Report)
(1,718) (1,718) (1,718)

The latest Triennial Review has reduced the Council's employer contribution 

from 22.9% to 21.2%.

29 Strategic Property Review (1,000) (1,700) (1,700)

A strategic review of property has been under way which is in the process of 

optimising income levels in the commercial portfolio, and reviewing the wider 

operational estate to optimise/rationalise as necessary following the 

pandemic.

30 Car Parking Tariffs (150) (150) (150)

Car Parking Tariffs have not been reviewed since 2017.  Parking numbers 

have recovered partially to pre covid levels to what is expected to be a new 

norm.  It is proposed to increase fees by an average of 5% which would 

generate £150k per year ongoing

31 Utilisation of closed car park sites (100) (100) (100)

There are a few currently unutilised car parks which were closed during the 

pandemic to reduce operating costs. This proposes their repurposing 

specifically as commercial parking to companies in the city centre

32 Childrens Pathways to Care Programme (100) (100) (100)

The option exists to reduce the capital funding set aside annually to support 

allocations from the  'Pathways to Care' policy (fostering and adoption 

exceptional payments).  Any high costs requests may not be able to be 

approved which could impact placement options/ placement stability/ 

permanence.

P
age 50



33
Childrens Internal Residential Homes 

Strategy
0 (350) (875)

Following the success of the Internal Residential Homes model approved in 

2017, this Residential Strategy will be to open further Internal residential 

homes for children looked after, allowing both improved outcomes for young 

people as well as the financial benefits delivered via a reduced reliance on 

private external market providers.   

34 National Insurance Reversal (1,000) (1,000) (1,000)

The Government has reversed the decision to increase Employer National 

Insurance which was due to become the Health and Social Care Levy from 

April 2023. The estimated impact of this change on the Council's costs has 

been matched by an equivalent expected loss of Government grant included 

within the Resources section above.

35 Organisational Exit Costs (1,000) 0 0

The costs of early retirement and redundancy decisions are paid for from an 

existing revenue budget of £1m. Additional coverage is provided from a 

reserve balance. It is proposed to reduce the revenue budget to zero for one 

year and to fund all one-off exit costs from the reserve.

36
Asset Management Revenue Account 

(Change to Pre-Budget Report)
(2,429) 0 0

The Asset Management Revenue Account contains a number of elements 

which are subject to forecasting uncertainty. This proposal anticipates some 

budgeting flexibility around areas including loan interest, Minimum Revenue 

Provision, capitalisation of interest and short-term investment income.

37
Coventry and Warwickshire Business 

Rates Pool
(2,000) 0 0

The Pool is now expected to continue for a further year within the existing 

Local Government Finance regime which will enable this income stream to be 

achieved for a further year. 

38 Dividends from Council Shareholdings 136 (798) (1,879)

Revised profile of dividends from the Council's shareholdings in external 

companies including Birmingham Airport and the Coventry and Warwickshire 

Waste Disposal Company. This includes improved dividends compared to the 

profile in recent years affected by Covid.

39 Capital Programme Revenue Funding (3,000) 0 0

Current capital programme schemes within highways and ICT are funded from 

revenue resources. This proposal instead funds this expenditure from time-

limited capital receipts which releases a temporary revenue saving, planned 

here for one year.

40
West Midlands Combined Authority Levy 

(Change to Pre-Budget Report)
(1,605) (1,957) (1,506)

Reduction in the levy based on an updated lower estimate of Coventry's 

population in relation to those across the West Midlands. This also assumes a 

cash-flat levy in 2024/25 and 2025/26.

P
age 51



Budget (Surplus)/Deficit 0 20,080 30,722

Summary

Starting Position 16,883 21,240 27,949

Additional Resources (34,612) (31,672) (32,392)

Additional Service & Technical Pressures 32,195 39,385 45,693

Additional Service and Technical Savings (14,466) (8,873) (10,528)

Budget (Surplus)/Deficit 0 20,080 30,722

P
age 52



  

Appendix 2 
 
CONSULTATION ON THE COUNCIL’S BUDGET PROPOSALS 2023/4 
 
February 2023 
 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1. Between December 2022 and February 2023, the Council undertook an eight-week 

period of consultation on its budget proposals for 2023/243, prior to making the final 
decisions on its budget. 
 

1.2. The Council reported on its priorities, the budget setting context and local financial 
position and gave an outline of the proposals to balance the Council’s 2023/24 budget. 
The Council asked for views on the proposed increase in Council Tax levels and its 
proposals for delivering services in the future while achieving the savings needed. 

 
2. Consultation Process 

 
2.1. The Council hosted a survey on its engagement platform Let’s Talk Coventry asking 

for people’s views on the budget proposals. This survey was publicised through the 
Council website, Facebook and Twitter pages. 
 

2.2. 2,000 people visited the page, with 545 of them downloading a document and 137 
respondents choosing to complete the survey. The results of the survey are 
summarised in section 3.  
 

2.3. In addition, a meeting was held with local residents on January 26. The issues raised 
during the meeting are summarised in section 4. 

 

2.4. Two engagement sessions were held with the Council workforce on January 16 and 23. 
The issues raised during the meeting are summarised in section 5. 

 

3. Outcomes of the Consultation on the Council’s Budget Proposals 
 

3.1. The main points that were raised through the public consultation on the Council's 
budget proposals are set out below. A table is included at the end of this report that 
provides a selection of the comments made during the consultation by key theme and 
the profile of respondents. 
 

3.2. A full list of comments from the meetings, online survey and written feedback can be 
received by contacting paul.jennings@coventry.gov.uk.  

 

Feedback from the on-line survey  
 

3.3. Comments were received from respondents on the specific proposal of increasing 
Council Tax included in the Pre-Budget Report. The graph below shows the comments 
received by theme. The majority of comments were against any potential increase, 
focusing on the fact that the impact of the inflationary and cost of living pressures 
would unfairly negatively impact those already struggling financially. However, a 
number of respondents agreed with the rise, believing it to be inevitable and necessary 
to ensure services remain for the vulnerable. 
 

Page 53



  

3.4. A number of respondents referred to the poor services they receive from the Council 
and that they would expect to see an improvement in the quality of services provided. 
 

3.5. A small number of respondents felt that we should look at the way we charge Council 
Tax and make it a more progressive tax with a number saying they would be willing to 
pay more Council tax to ensure essential services are provided for the vulnerable. 
 
 

 
  
3.6. Respondents were asked what impact they thought the proposal might have on 

different equality groups; many respondents felt that it would impact equally on all 
groups. Most comments focused on the largest impact being felt by those that were 
already under pressure economically as well as negatively impacting on the elderly. 
 

3.7. A number of respondents also pointed to the fact that working people that are not 
entitled to benefits would be impacted the hardest by the proposed increase in Council 
Tax. 
 

3.8. Respondents were asked what they thought the Council could do to save money or 
generate income. The majority of comments centred on suggestions for better 
investment/use of money and use of buildings. 
 

 

Page 54



  

 
 

3.9. Support was given to raising money through various commercialisation activities and 
enforcing fines for littering and parking infringements. Several respondents suggested 
that the council should stop wasting money on schemes such as the cycle schemes 
and investing in Coombe Abbey.  
 

3.10. On the other hand, a number of respondents stated that we should involve the 
community more in delivering services, especially in terms of litter picking, even doing 
crowd funding giving people the option to pay more in Council Tax to fund essential 
services. 
 

3.11. A number of respondents requested more clarity on how the information is presented 
to enable more people to engage with the process. Requests for more to be spent on 
tackling air pollution and mitigating the effects of Climate Change were made as well 
as a focus on keeping the streets clean.  
 

4. Feedback from Consultation Meeting with Local Residents – January 26 
 

 
4.1.   A presentation was given on the Council’s budget setting process and financial 

proposals. Questions were raised on how they would get feedback from the 
engagement process, funding received from WMCA and the Council’s 
commercialisation strategy. 

4.2.   Concerns raised were about the amount of litter across the whole city not just the city 
centre, fear that the improvements to the city centre will be neglected, a view that 
increases in fly-tipping is due to the charges made to use Whitley, pot holes and health 
and social care. 

5. Feedback from Engagement Sessions with Council Workforce – January 16,23 

5.1.   Questions raised were around retention of staff, wage increases, regrading of posts, 
commercialisation strategy and what support we have in place for low paid workers 
against the cost-of-living increases. 

  

 

 

 

Page 55



  

Examples of Comments by Theme – February 2023 
 
A full list of comments is available on request. 
 

Priority / Theme 

 

Comments 

Against Council 
Tax Increase 

• Council tax is already providing poor value for money and increasing it during a cost-of-living crisis is immoral and 
irresponsible.  

• Given the present economic climate the country finds itself in, I believe the council should be reducing the cost 
burden on the council tax payers. 

• Very disappointed because as with everything it is middle income earners that will be the hardest hit 

• Increasing tax during crisis is out of order 

• There should be NO increase on council or business rates the whole City is struggling and you are putting more 
pressure on residents by increasing this 

• Absolutely shocking given the cost-of-living crisis. A council should be helping the public not against them. 

• Around 5% increase is too much for many household who are already bearing the high living costs. This need to 
be kept under 2% and other opportunities need to be identified to cover the deficit 

In Support Council 
Tax Increase 

• I am loathe to support an increase in Council Tax, but there is very little option to do so and be able to support the 
most vulnerable in the city. 

• Sadly, needed to protect services from cuts. I would however suggest a much higher levy be placed on the very 
top band properties and households to help shield lower band households. 

• I have reservations about increasing the lowest tax bands but I think that residents in higher bands might be able 
to do more to maintain critical services, especially social care generally and children's and young people's social 
services in particular 

• Below what I would imagine with the current economic climate and happy that it appears Coventry Council is 
taking steps to curb overspending and keeping the increase well below inflation. 

• It's unwelcome but inevitable. Services need to be paid for, and it seems to me that every service and the people 
who work in them are stressed to (or close to) breaking point. The city council should take the maximum permitted 
increase, and then give as much back in support to those most vulnerable as can be delivered. 

Services • It is indeed important to pay council tax however, we pay tax in Coventry can barely see its result. Streets are very 
untidy; bins are not collected on time and there barely any zebra crossing to keep school children safe. 

• Healthcare and education, together with Economic development should be top priorities for Coventry. 

• The council tax we pay isn't reflected in the awful mess the roads, pavements, overflowing bins, uneven 
pavement slabs, ridiculous cycle lane in Coundon (which is such a bad design that it is dangerous) and cars 
parked up on double yellow lines.  

P
age 56



  

Priority / Theme 

 

Comments 

• I'm always concerned that both adult and child social services is underfunded - I appreciate this is a central gvt 
issue primarily, but I would support cuts to other less impactful things (like the production of Citivision) to fund 
services to our most vulnerable 

Equalities • This effects everybody not just some all the people  

• as usual the increase will disproportionately affect working people that fall outside of the poverty line but below 
wealthy brackets. Not to mention that most of the burden will be felt by working mothers It effects all groups, on a 
very detrimental level.  

• Increased council tax will obviously concern people, given other price rises. However, council tax funding is used 
to support those most vulnerable in the city, so such groups should benefit overall. 

• Council tax rises will hit all coventry residents hard as we are already coping with cost of living, food increases 
etc. I wonder if you will have more people not paying 

• the middle-income earners will be hit the most yet again. As a consequence, many of these will be entering 
poverty level thresholds and suffer more inequalities than previously thereby increasing the burden on services 

• Regardless of the protected characteristics of people in the community, the impact of these proposals will be, for 
residents to be less able to meet their costs of living, paying more for services that remain either the same or 
reduced. 

Income/Generation 
Commercialisation 

• There may be some non-statutory but 'nice to have' projects that the Council could consider crowd funding.  I 
know I'd be happy to pay a voluntary top-up of my Council Tax to fund such projects.  When I think of all the 
informal fund-raising that schools do, it doesn't seem such a terrible stretch.  For example, I would love to support 
(via voluntary Council Tax top-ups) an Internet-enabled/staffed minibus covering the low-income neighbourhoods 
on a predictable monthly rotation in order to reach disadvantaged residents in person, near their homes.  It would 
take time establish itself in the medium term but it might save a lot of heartache and hassle in the longer term. 

• Generate income from a Clean air zone implemented with chargeable access for non-Coventry citizens. 
Assuming public transport connections are adequate to provide access to City centre by means other than car.  

• Reduce cost of Street cleaning - actively set up and support resident street cleaning, litter picks etc. Engage 
schools to support with cleaning of their immediate vicinity (also education for students not to drop litter). Services 
like bin collections should be contracted out 

• Most local authorities charge for garden waste collections. Why does Coventry not do this when it could represent 
not only a significant income but also a substantial saving in current service running costs? 

• Employ more parking enforcement officers 24 hours/day. Let them patrol the streets around the clock. At worst 
they will break even, at best they will stop the stupidity that the city's streets are littered with and turn a healthy 
profit. 

• Additional licensing on HMO's.   Faster responses by parking services to tip offs of illegal parking.  More 
enforcement capacity surrounding illegal evictions would generate savings if families didn't need to be housed in 
temporary accommodation. 

P
age 57



  

Priority / Theme 

 

Comments 

Workforce • Open up voluntary redundancy. Look at how many admin type office staff teams have, look at how many senior 
roles are not needed.   

• Reduce salaries for Senior Managers, and Directors. Reduce spending on Cllrs expenses. 

• Remove all councillors from decision making, remove middle management.  Create a new management system 
consisting of 3 local business owners voted for by the residents of Coventry and allow them to make sensible 
financially sound decision about how tax payers money should be spent on Coventry. 

Other Comments • Thanks to cuts in budgets from central government, Coventry City Council has its work cut out - as with every 
council in the country to varying extents. I'm sure there is some waste that can be eliminated, but that's not easy 
to find and often not in the places people expect it to be. I don't agree with every decision the council makes 
(would have bit the bullet and introduced a Clean Air Zone personally!) but the rationale for decisions appears to 
be understandable at least. I think there's a silent majority in the city that appreciate the difficulties of the situation, 
so best to ignore the few who never have anything nice to say...Where is the vision for the Climate Crisis? Why 
are we still only at the stage of thinking about stuff and hoping to make a plan?  

• "I have no faith in this council that it will ever put the best interests of its citizens before the best interests of HMO 
and Corporate landlords, I have no faith this council will ever put the best interests of its independent local 
businesses, before the best interests of transnational corporate giants. Also please note, we are citizens, not 
customers like you refer to in all your literature and mailings and email addresses. We do not buy services from 
you for a profit to you, we empower you via democracy, to provide as many services as possible free at the point 
of use, that is not a customer relationship." 

• The council does not seem to think laterally it tends to flit from one supposed good idea to the next without proper 
consideration. Small amounts spread across random projects are not the way to best serve the city. 
Concentration on one or two specific projects is better use of limited finds. Good causes are always going to be 
there, and there contribution to society is to be lauded but, with the fiscal restraints that plague any public body 
this is not best use of resources. The council has to develop a habit of saying no not this year wait your turn, 
Adult/social /children’s' care, seems to be the priority of any council and is essential to safeguard the more 
vulnerable in our society but waste of funds on  ad hoc projects that benefit only a few is not an essential. The 
council needs to pare back funding or contributing funding to projects that do not benefits at least a quarter of the 
city's population. 

• I recognise that the Council is between a rock and a hard place and stretched to breaking point.  I do appreciate 
the work it does. 

• I'd like to thank councillors and staff for their work. Local authorities are often criticised in the media and rarely 
praised - so thank you to all of you who work to make our city a better place to live. 

 
 
 
 

P
age 58



 

Profile of Survey Respondents 
 
All charts show the number of respondents in each category 

 
 
How are you responding to this consultation? 

 

 
 
How would you describe yourself? 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140

As a member of the public

A representative of an
organisation (please state the

name of the organisation)

135

2

As a member of the public

A representative of an organisation
(please state the name of the
organisation)

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80

Male

Female

Prefer not to say

72

57

7

Male

Female

Prefer not to say

Page 59



 

Is your gender different from the gender you were assigned at birth, or do you prefer not to say?  
 

 
 
 
What is your sexuality? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

Yes

No

Prefer not to say

5

119

10

Yes

No

Prefer not to say

0 20 40 60 80 100

Asexual

Bisexual

Gay man

Gay woman/Lesbian

Heterosexual/Straight

Other

Prefer not to say

7

3

1

1

92

2

28

What is your sexu...

Asexual

Bisexual

Gay man

Gay woman/Lesbian

Heterosexual/Straight

Other

Prefer not to say

Page 60



 

 
 
What is your legal marital or civil partnership status? 
 
 

 
 
 
What age group are you in? 

 

 
 
 
 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

Never married and never
registered a civil partnership

Married

In a registered civil partnership

Divorced

Widowed

Prefer not to say

10

32

1

4

2

13

Never married and never registered
a civil partnership

Married

In a registered civil partnership

Divorced

Widowed

Prefer not to say

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

16-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

65-74

75-84

2

11

32

27

28

23

10

16-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

65-74

75-84

Page 61



 

Which of the following best describes your ethnic background? 

 

 
 
Do you consider yourself to be? 
 

 
 

0 20 40 60 80 100

White British

White Irish

Other White Background

Other Mixed or Multiple Ethnic
Background

Asian or Asian British Indian

Asian or Asian British Pakistani

Black or Black British African

Other/Black/African/Caribbean
background

Other

Prefer not to say

94

3

5

2

4

5

3

1

3

16

White British

White Irish

Other White Background

Other Mixed or Multiple Ethnic
Background

Asian or Asian British Indian

Asian or Asian British Pakistani

Black or Black British African

Other/Black/African/Caribbean
background

Other

Prefer not to say

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Christian

Jewish

Muslim

Sikh

No Religion

Atheist

Prefer not to say

Other

58

1

8

2

29

17

16

5

Christian

Jewish

Muslim

Sikh

No Religion

Atheist

Prefer not to say

Other

Page 62



 

Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person? 

 

 
 
How would you describe your impairment? (Please choose as many as apply) 

 

 
 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

Yes

No

24

107

Yes

No

0 2 4 6 8 10

Hearing Impairment

Mobility Impairment

Reduced Physical Capacity

Visual Impairment not
corrected by spectacles or…

Learning disability

Neurological Condition

Sensory Impairment

Learning Difficulties

Mental Health Condition

Physical Co-ordination
Difficulties

Mental Illness

Physical Impairment

Long-standing Illness or
Health Condition

Prefer not to say

Other (please specify)

2

9

3

1

3

5

1

2

6

2

3

4

9

1

2

Hearing Impairment

Mobility Impairment

Reduced Physical Capacity

Visual Impairment not corrected
by spectacles or contact lenses

Learning disability

Neurological Condition

Sensory Impairment

Learning Difficulties

Mental Health Condition

Physical Co-ordination
Difficulties

Mental Illness

Physical Impairment

Long-standing Illness or Health
Condition

Prefer not to say

Other (please specify)

Page 63



 

Are you, or will you soon be, a care leaver?  

 

 

 

Are you, or have you recently been, pregnant?  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140

Yes

No

4

125

Yes

No

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Had a baby in the past six months

Breastfeeding

None of the above

1

2

55

Had a baby in the past six months

Breastfeeding

None of the above

Page 64



 

Do you, or a member of your immediate family, currently serve, or have previously served, in the armed 
forces?  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

Yes

No

Prefer not to say

18

103

11

Yes

No

Prefer not to say

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3

2022/23**
CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIOS

Budget 
Decisions 
Brought 
Forward

Pre-Budget 
and Final 
Budget 

Changes

2023/24 
Final Budget

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1,697 Policy and Leadership 1,874 355 2,229
8,960 Policing and Equalities 9,421 720 10,141
7,881 Strategic Finance and Resources 9,143 118 9,261

85,200 Children and Young People 89,558 4,893 94,451
19,416 Education and Skills 17,441 5,364 22,805
(8,044) Jobs and Regeneration (7,241) 391 (6,850)
37,606 City Services 40,526 1,231 41,758
90,370 Adult Services 91,809 10,631 102,441

712 Public Health and Sport 1,076 451 1,527
16,263 Housing and Communities 17,129 702 17,831

260,061 TOTAL CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIOS 270,736 24,856 295,594

24,398 Borrowing and Investments 24,265 480 24,745
(40,942) Contingencies & Corporate Budgets* (49,047) (24,821) (73,868)

15,842 Levies From Other Bodies 16,372 (1,331) 15,041
44 Parish Precepts 44 0 44

6,506 Revenue Contribution to Capital Spend 3,052 (2,968) 84
(28,486) Contributions to / (from) Reserves * (1,660) 524 (1,137)

0 To be apportioned 0 0 0
237,423 NET BUDGET AFTER SPECIFIC GRANTS, FEES & CHARGES 263,762 (3,260) 260,503

Financed by:
(153,394) Council Tax (159,819) 0 (164,440)

(84,029) Business Rates* (103,943) 0 (96,063)
(237,423) TOTAL RESOURCES (263,762) 0 (260,503)

Gross 
Expenditure

Gross 
Income 2022/23**

CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIOS
Gross 

Expenditure
Gross 

Income
2023/24 

Final Budget

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1,758 (61) 1,697 Policy and Leadership 2,229 0 2,229
16,811 (7,851) 8,960 Policing and Equalities 19,319 (9,178) 10,141
82,150 (74,269) 7,881 Strategic Finance and Resources 84,162 (74,901) 9,261
95,555 (10,355) 85,200 Children and Young People 105,808 (11,357) 94,451

225,502 (206,086) 19,416 Education and Skills 248,832 (226,027) 22,805
14,242 (22,286) (8,044) Jobs and Regeneration 14,353 (21,203) (6,850)
65,030 (27,424) 37,606 City Services 71,209 (29,451) 41,758

139,263 (48,893) 90,370 Adult Services 157,352 (54,911) 102,441
24,527 (23,815) 712 Public Health and Sport 24,795 (23,268) 1,527
33,009 (16,746) 16,263 Housing and Communities 38,614 (20,783) 17,831

697,847 (437,786) 260,061 TOTAL CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIOS 766,673 (471,079) 295,594
26,045 (1,647) 24,398 Borrowing and Investments 26,392 (1,647) 24,745

457 (41,399) (40,942) Contingencies & Corporate Budgets* 538 (74,406) (73,868)
15,842 0 15,842 Levies From Other Bodies 15,041 0 15,041

44 0 44 Parish Precepts 44 0 44
6,506 0 6,506 Revenue Contribution to Capital Spend 84 0 84
2,091 (30,577) (28,486) Contributions to / (from) Reserves* 3,245 (4,382) (1,137)

0 0 0 To be apportioned 0 0 0
748,832 (511,409) 237,423 NET BUDGET AFTER SPECIFIC GRANTS, FEES & CHARGES 812,017 (551,514) 260,503

Financed by:
0 (153,394) (153,394) Council Tax 0 (164,440) (164,440)
0 (84,029) (84,029) Retained Business Rates* 0 (96,063) (96,063)
0 (237,423) (237,423) TOTAL RESOURCES 0 (260,503) (260,503)

*The budget movements between years on these lines 
have been significantly affected by the Business Rates 
reliefs provided by central government, in response to the 
pandemic. 0
**Restated as responsibilities have changed

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4 - Capital Programme 2023/24 to 2027/28 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CABINET MEMBER:  ADULT SERVICES

CAPITAL SCHEME
2023/24

£'000

2024/25

£'000

2025/26

£'000

2026/27

£'000

2027/28

£'000

Total

£'000

Disabled Facilities Grants Main Programme 5,450 5,000 5,000 5,000 4,182 24,632

DFG Adapation of Temporary Homelessness Properties 250 0 0 0 0 250

Children Homes (Short-Term Residential Placements) 1,264 0 0 0 0 1,264

TOTAL APPROVED PROGRAMME 6,964 5,000 5,000 5,000 4,182 26,146

RESOURCES
2023/24

£'000

2024/25

£'000

2025/26

£'000

2026/27

£'000

2027/28

£'000

Total

£'000

Grant 6,332 5,000 5,000 5,000 4,182 25,514

Prudential Borrowing 632 0 0 0 0 632

TOTAL RESOURCES 6,964 5,000 5,000 5,000 4,182 26,146

CABINET MEMBER:  EDUCATION & SKILLS

CAPITAL SCHEME
2023/24

£'000

2024/25

£'000

2025/26

£'000

2026/27

£'000

2027/28

£'000

Total

£'000

Basic Need 10,336 3,244 30,900 0 0 44,480

Condition 2,745 4,771 2,000 2,000 2,000 13,516

Devolved Formula Capital 487 487 487 487 414 2,362

Suitability/Access 100 100 100 0 0 300

Public Sector Decarbonsiaton Scheme in Schools (Phase 3b) 0 2,771 0 0 0 2,771

Woodlands School 14,290 6,245 0 0 0 20,535

TOTAL APPROVED PROGRAMME 27,958 17,618 33,487 2,487 2,414 83,964

RESOURCES
2023/24

£'000

2024/25

£'000

2025/26

£'000

2026/27

£'000

2027/28

£'000

Total

£'000

Grant 15,639 12,240 28,319 2,487 2,414 61,099

Section 106 87 0 0 0 0 87

Resource Switch - Prudential Borrowing 6,427 133 5,168 0 0 11,728

TOTAL RESOURCES 27,958 17,618 33,487 2,487 2,414 83,964

CABINET MEMBER:  PUBLIC HEALTH & SPORT

CAPITAL SCHEME
2023/24

£'000

2024/25

£'000

2025/26

£'000

2026/27

£'000

2027/28

£'000

Total

£'000

Play Areas 125 150 150 237 1,729 2,391

TOTAL APPROVED PROGRAMME 125 150 150 237 1,729 2,391

RESOURCES
2023/24

£'000

2024/25

£'000

2025/26

£'000

2026/27

£'000

2027/28

£'000

Total

£'000

Section 106 125 150 150 237 1,729 2,391

TOTAL RESOURCES 125 150 150 237 1,729 2,391

Page 69



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CABINET MEMBER: JOBS & REGENERATION

CAPITAL SCHEME
2023/24

£'000

2024/25

£'000

2025/26

£'000

2026/27

£'000

2027/28

£'000

Total

£'000

UK Central + Connectivity 16,295 14,383 10,416 16,697 112,447 170,238

City Centre Regeneration 52,742 11,886 17,375 0 0 82,003

Friargate 4,212 0 41,262 0 0 45,474

Coventry Station Masterplan. 510 0 0 0 0 510

European Structural & Investment Funds 997 0 0 0 0 997

Growing Places 200 0 0 0 0 200

Whitley Depot Redevelopment 21 0 0 0 0 21

Duplex Fund 1,110 125 0 0 0 1,235

Coombe Loan 387 0 0 0 0 387

UKASPF - Coventry UK Shared Prosperity Fund 172 692 0 0 0 864

TOTAL APPROVED PROGRAMME 76,646 27,086 69,053 16,697 112,447 301,929

RESOURCES
2023/24

£'000

2024/25

£'000

2025/26

£'000

2026/27

£'000

2027/28

£'000

Total

£'000

Prudential Borrowing 826 0 41,262 0 0 42,088

Grant 73,565 22,200 27,791 13,968 0 137,524

Capital expenditure (from) revenue account 0 0 0 2,729 112,447 115,176

Resource Switch - Prudential Borrowing 200 0 0 0 0 200

UnRingfenced Receipts 2,045 4,886 0 0 0 6,931

TOTAL RESOURCES 76,646 27,086 69,053 16,697 112,447 301,929

CABINET MEMBER:  CITY SERVICES

CAPITAL SCHEME
2023/24

£'000

2024/25

£'000

2025/26

£'000

2026/27

£'000

2027/28

£'000

Total

£'000

Air Quality 7,490 0 0 0 0 7,490

Commercial Waste Containers 525 525 0 0 0 1,050

Coventry South - London Rd - Gigafactory 6,915 12,152 0 0 0 19,067

Funeral Directors 163 0 0 0 0 163

Foleshill Transport Plan 4,983 0 0 0 0 4,983

Highways Maintenance & Investment 8,305 6,437 5,805 5,805 0 26,352

Information, Communication and Technology 929 940 1,000 1,000 1,000 4,869

Local Network Improvement Plan (LNIP) 2,034 2,034 2,034 2,034 0 8,136

Lentons Lane Cemetery - Phase 2 Expansion 43 0 0 0 0 43

London Road Cemetery 0 4 2 0 0 6

Mixed Recycling Facility 2,616 0 0 0 0 2,616

Public Realm Phase 5 75 0 0 0 0 75

Public Realm Phase 6 1,788 0 0 0 0 1,788

Solar Panels 168 0 0 0 0 168

Sustainable Warmth Competition 125 0 0 0 0 125

Transportation S106 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 5,000

Tom White Waste Commercial Loan 1,250 21,450 0 0 0 22,700

Vehicle & Plant Replacement 3,946 2,457 1,557 2,133 1,713 11,806

TOTAL APPROVED PROGRAMME 42,355 46,999 11,398 11,972 3,713 116,437

RESOURCES
2023/24

£'000

2024/25

£'000

2025/26

£'000

2026/27

£'000

2027/28

£'000

Total

£'000

Corporate Resources 163 0 0 0 0 163

Prudential Borrowing 8,380 24,432 1,557 2,133 1,713 38,215

Grant 26,968 17,278 5,872 5,870 0 55,988

Capital expenditure (from) revenue account 84 2,909 2,969 2,969 1,000 9,931

Section 106 2,074 2,380 1,000 1,000 1,000 7,454

TOTAL RESOURCES 42,355 46,999 11,398 11,972 3,713 116,437

Page 70



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CAPITAL SCHEME
2023/24

£'000

2024/25

£'000

2025/26

£'000

2026/27

£'000

2027/28

£'000

Total

£'000

Housing Venture 445 409 0 0 0 854

Purchase of Temporary Accommodation for Homlessness Families 2,000 7,000 0 0 0 9,000

Start for Life 135 69 0 0 0 204

TOTAL APPROVED PROGRAMME 2,580 7,478 0 0 0 10,058

RESOURCES
2023/24

£'000

2024/25

£'000

2025/26

£'000

2026/27

£'000

2027/28

£'000

Total

£'000

Prudential Borrowing 2,000 7,000 0 0 0 9,000

Section 106 35 0 0 0 0 35

Ringfenced Receipts 410 409 0 0 0 819

Grant 135 69 0 0 0 204

TOTAL RESOURCES 2,580 7,478 0 0 0 10,058

CAPITAL SCHEME
2023/24

£'000

2024/25

£'000

2025/26

£'000

2026/27

£'000

2027/28

£'000

Total

£'000

Children with Disability 1,350 0 0 0 0 1,350

Pathways to Care (Support to Foster Carers) 100 100 100 100 200 600

TOTAL APPROVED PROGRAMME 1,450 100 100 100 200 1,950

RESOURCES
2023/24

£'000

2024/25

£'000

2025/26

£'000

2026/27

£'000

2027/28

£'000

Total

£'000

Corporate Resources 100 100 100 100 200 600

Prudential Borrowing 20 0 0 0 0 20

Grant 1,330 0 0 0 0 1,330

TOTAL RESOURCES 1,450 100 100 100 200 1,950

CAPITAL SCHEME
2023/24

£'000

2024/25

£'000

2025/26

£'000

2026/27

£'000

2027/28

£'000

Total

£'000

UK City of Culture 1,108 0 0 0 0 1,108

TOTAL APPROVED PROGRAMME 1,108 0 0 0 0 1,108

RESOURCES
2023/24

£'000

2024/25

£'000

2025/26

£'000

2026/27

£'000

2027/28

£'000

Total

£'000

Prudential Borrowing 1,108 0 0 0 0 1,108

TOTAL RESOURCES 1,108 0 0 0 0 1,108

CABINET MEMBER:  HOUSING & COMMUNITIES

CABINET MEMBER:  POLICY & LEADERSHIP

CABINET MEMBER:  CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Commercial Investment Strategy    Appendix 5 

This strategy is produced in line with statutory government guidance on Local Government 
Investments issued under the Local Government Act 2003. It sets out how commercial 
investments are managed, other than those covered by the Treasury Management Strategy 
(Section 2.4) and specifically covers investments in shares, loans provided by the Council and 
commercial property holdings. 

The key areas covered in the strategy are: 

 Transparency and democratic accountability; 

 Contribution of investments to achieving the objectives of the Council; 

 Consideration of the balance between the security, liquidity and yield of investments; 

 The need to assess security and the risk of loss when making or holding an investment; 

 The need to determine the liquidity of investments, including the determination of the 
maximum periods for those investments, and how funds can be accessed when needed; 

 The proportionality of the investments given the overall size of the authority; 

 The authority’s approach to borrowing purely in order to profit from an investment or 
“borrowing in advance of need” as it is referred to in the guidance; 

 The need to ensure that members and statutory officers have the appropriate capacity, 
skills and culture to make informed decisions in respect of investments; 

 The use of technical indicators to assess risk and return; 

 The Council’s approach to investment for yield. 

The Council’s Commercial Investments 

The Council holds investments that, whilst commercial in certain respects, fulfil significant 
service or policy objectives, through providing wider public services, including supporting 
economic growth. These investments are categorised as shares, loans, and property: 

 Shares in companies, with the main holdings being in 6 companies: the Coventry & 
Solihull Waste Disposal Company, Birmingham Airport, Sherborne Recycling Ltd, 
Coventry Municipal Holdings Ltd, Friargate JV Project Ltd and the UK Battery 
Industrialisation Centre (UKBIC). In total, shares held by the Council had a value of £96m 
as at 31/03/2022 (£99m at 31/3/2021). Much of this represents increases in the value of 
the shares rather than cash funds invested. An estimated £52m of the £96m represents 
capital funds invested over time. Share dividend income totalled £9.65m in 2021/22. The 
current difficult economic environment will continue to apply further downward pressure 
on dividends into 2023/24. 

One of the risks of investing in shares is that they fall in value, meaning that the initial 
investment may not be recovered. In order to limit this risk, an upper limit of £55m 
(Indicator 5) is set on the sum invested in shares, excluding any change in the value of 
shares already held. 

 Commercial property holdings across Coventry, including offices, shops and retail units 
assembled over many years. In total, commercial property held by the Council had a value 

Page 73



of £335m as at 31/3/2022 (£293m as at 31/3/2021) with forecast net rental income of 
£13.8m in 2022/23. The fair value of commercial property is assessed annually. 

 Loans provided and committed by the Council (“service loans”) are forecast to total 
£83.9m as at 31/3/2023 with the significant main loans provided or committed to: Tom 
White Waste Ltd, for recycling (£21.7m); Sherborne Recycling Ltd (£12.3m); Coombe 
Abbey Park Ltd loans (£9.7m); UKBIC (£12.5m) Friargate Holdings 2 Ltd (£6.1m) and 
SMEs and other local business funding through Coventry and Warwickshire Reinvestment 
Trust (£3.7m).  

The main risk when making service loans is that the borrower will be unable to repay the 
principal lent and interest due. In order to limit this risk, and ensure that total exposure to 
such loans remains proportionate to the size of the authority an upper limit of £91m 
(Indicator 4) is set on the sum invested, excluding any change in the value of service loans 
already held. 

Transparency and Democratic Accountability 

In line with the Investment Guidance, the Strategy will be prepared annually and will be 
approved by Council, with any material changes being presented to Council for approval. As 
part of the wider Budget Report incorporating the related treasury management and capital 
strategies, this strategy will be openly available on the Council’s website. In addition, there is 
extensive reporting in respect of commercial investments within the Statement of Accounts. 
The Council’s constitution, through the application of approval thresholds, ensures that 
investment schemes are considered for approval at the appropriate level, taking into account 
materiality. 

Contribution to the Objectives of the Council 

The Council invests to support the wider provision of local and regional public services, 
including to stimulate economic growth and develop employment opportunities. Investments 
made within the city or region have a service dimension that those made outside of the region 
are unlikely to have. Business cases for individual investments, will include the purpose of the 
investment and how it meets Council objectives. 

Security, Liquidity and Yield 

Strategic plans including financial plans embodied within the Medium Term Financial Strategy, 
as well as business cases for individual investments, will include the consideration of the 
security, yield and liquidity of the investments, together with the associated risk management 
arrangements and the proportionality of the investment within the Council’s wider financial 
standing.  

Risk Assessment 

For each category of investment, the Council assesses the risk of loss before making 
commercial investments and whilst holding such investments as set out below: 
 

Investment 
Type 

Approach to Risk Assessment 

Shares  Reviewing the underlying Business Plan of the organisation, 
including the assumptions about the market in which the company 
operates. In understanding the market in which the organisation 
operates external advice will often be needed; 

Page 74



 Assessing the financial strength of the organisations through the use 
of independent credit assessments and ratings (where available), 
and the review of published accounts and financial reports; 

 Considering governance issues, including potentially those set out in 
audit or external advice reports of the organisation; 

 Considering risk management including the identification of risk 
issues through an organisation’s statement of accounts and internal 
risk registers where appropriate. 

Once shares have been acquired, the Council manages its interest as a 
shareholder through a number of routes including: Board 
membership/appointment; monitoring of financial and other reporting 
information; operation of shareholder panels. 

Commercial 
Property  

 Undertaking a detailed financial and operational due diligence 
assessment, prior to acquiring commercial property assets, 
identifying the relevant risks (e.g. financial, operational). The 
assessment includes condition, mechanical and electrical surveys, a 
review of the occupational leases, title investigations etc to ensure 
that the Council has full knowledge of the asset to be acquired. The 
financial assessment includes consideration of full life costs, 
including capital investment requirements, the level and security of 
income and potential alternative use returns;  

 Using the Council’s extensive local market knowledge developed 
through its longstanding ownership and management of commercial 
property within the city;  

 Credit rating assessments are carried out on the tenants of the 
properties that are being acquired in order to determine the strength 
of the covenant and security of forecast income.    

Once acquired properties are then managed by the Council’s 
Commercial Property Management Team, whilst financial performance, 
including yields etc is monitored through the Council’s developing 
property performance review arrangements. 

Service Loans  Reviewing the underlying business case for the loan, including where 
appropriate project or wider organisation business plans. This will 
include consideration of relevant market information; 

 Seeking security through asset specific or other legal charges; 
 Assessing the financial strength of the organisation through the use 

of independent credit assessments and ratings (where available) and 
the review of published accounts and financial reports;  

 Including appropriate financial covenants in loan agreements; 
 Managing the potential budgetary impact of any risk of loss, for 

example by the “up front” resourcing of any capital spend through the 
use of capital receipts rather than borrowing. 

Once provided, service loans are managed in order to minimise the 
chance and mitigate the impact of any default. Loans are administered 

Page 75



to ensure the timely payment of interest and principal, and long-term 
security of the Council’s interest. Monitoring information is provided by 
borrowers, at a level appropriate to the individual loan, including for 
example, statutory financial and management reporting information. 
Loans are assessed under IFRS9 for impairment, using the “expected 
credit loss model”. 

 
As appropriate, the local authority will use external advisors to assess the market, legal, 
financial and technical advice in respect of all investment types. In order to monitor and 
maintain the quality of the advice the authority will: 

 identify appropriate providers, where appropriate procuring through a competitive process; 
 ensure clarity about: its needs, the scope and specification of works, resources required, 

outputs and timescales; 
 ensure oversight of the contract, strong communication and post contract review. 
 
Liquidity of Investments 

Where resources need to be generated this requirement is managed through the Council’s 
wider processes, including the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). This can, for 
example, take the form of identifying savings within spending programmes or the use of 
reserves, although ultimately it could entail the sale of assets. Where asset sales are required, 
the MTFS based corporate approach ensures that the need to realise resources can be 
focused across the Council’s entire asset base rather than being restricted to specific assets. 
This strategic approach helps maximise flexibility and the potential to realise value from asset 
disposals, in a timely manner. 

As ordinary shares have no defined maturity or repayment period, liquidity will depend on the 
ability to sell the shares at any point in time and therefore the market at the time of sale. 
Consequently no maximum investment or maturity periods are set.  Similarly, the liquidity of a 
particular property purchased as an investment will depend on the market at the point of sale.  

The terms of service loans provided by the Council will include provision for the repayment of 
the loan, thereby determining liquidity. Loan durations will vary and will in part be determined 
by the purpose of the particular loan, and the underlying spend being financed, with for 
example a loan to finance the construction of a building being repayable over a longer 
maximum term than a loan for the purchase of equipment. 
 
Proportionality 

The Council is forecast to generate total commercial income of £23.5m in 2022/23 (loan 
interest £1.6m, share dividends £8.8m and net property rents £13.1m). Whilst a significant 
cash sum contributing to the balancing of the Council’s budget, this figure represents 9.0% of 
the Council’s net revenue stream. In generating commercial income the Council will seek to 
ensure that investments are diversified across different commercial asset types in order to 
manage risk. However, it is inevitable that Council investment will be focused in local areas in 
a way that is unlikely to be the case for national investors, reflecting the service dimension of 
investment decisions. 

 

 

Page 76



Borrowing to Fund Commercial Investment  

The Treasury Management Strategy (section 2.4) sets out the benefits of the Council retaining 
access to PWLB borrowing. The authority will continue the policy of not investing in assets 
primarily for yield regardless of how the investment is funded, as this would jeopardise access 
to PWLB borrowing and be inconsistent with the Prudential Code (below). Under formal PWLB 
Guidance investment in the following areas are not deemed to be investment for yield: service 
delivery (education, highways & transport, social care, public health, culture & related services, 
environmental & regulatory services, police, and fire & rescue services); housing; 
regeneration; preventative action; refinancing and treasury management. Where individual 
projects have characteristics of several different categories, the section 151 officer of the 
authority is required to use their professional judgment to assess the main objective of the 
investment and consider which category is the best fit. 

In addition, the requirements of the Prudential Code, as revised in December 2021, are in line 
with the rules for PWLB borrowing. The Code sets out a new framework in which authorities 
are to manage commercial investments, classifying investments as being for one of three 
purposes: 

 Treasury management, broadly for cashflow or treasury risk management 
purposes; 

 Service delivery, held primarily and directly for the delivery of public services; 

 Commercial return, held primarily for financial return with no treasury management 
or direct service provision purpose. This category can include commercial property. 

In respect of investments for commercial return: 

 The risks should be proportionate to the authority’s financial capacity – i.e. that 
‘plausible losses’ could be absorbed in budgets or reserves without unmanageable 
detriment to local services; 

 Authorities must not borrow to invest primarily for financial return; 

 However, authorities with commercial land and property can invest in maximising 
its value, including repair, renewal and updating of the properties; 

In addition: 

 The Code also states that it is imprudent for authorities to make any investment or 
spending decision that could increase the need for borrowing, unless it is related 
to the authority’s functions and where financial returns are “either related to the 
financial viability of the project in question or otherwise incidental to the primary 
purpose”.  

 The Code confirms that authorities are not required to sell investments. However, 
they will need to review options for exiting commercial investments before 
borrowing, considering the value for money of taking out borrowing versus selling 
investments. In addition, a review will need to be included in the annual treasury or 
investment strategy. 

In order to proactively manage risk, the authority will make Minimum Revenue Provision on 
such investments where they are resourced from borrowing, rather than relying on the value 
within the asset to cover the long term debt impact of the investment. 

Page 77



Capacity, Skills and Culture 

The City Council ensures that it has the capacity, skills and culture to effectively manage its 
commercial investments and the associated risk in a number of ways, including, by ensuring 
that: 

 Qualified and experienced internal staffing resources are available in key areas including 
property management, finance, and legal services. External advisors are employed where 
specialist advice is unavailable internally e.g. in assessing business value in making 
significant share acquisitions; 

 Investment proposals are subject to robust appraisal and business case assessments 
covering key areas e.g. security, yield and liquidity over the long term or full life of the 
investment, beyond the duration of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. The 
assessment of the business case is included at the appropriate level of detail in reports 
seeking member approval to the investment; 

 The Council’s constitution sets out clear and strong governance structures for the approval 
of financial transactions, including the thresholds for approval by Cabinet Member, Cabinet 
or Council etc. These arrangements are fundamental in ensuring that investment 
proposals are considered in the context of the Council’s strategic objectives; 

 The role of the Section 151 Officer is key in providing input into the consideration of 
investment proposals, from the initial detailed business case assessment through to 
approval by the relevant Cabinet Member, by Cabinet or Council. Where necessary, for 
example due to potential conflicts of interest, the role of Section 151 is undertaken by 
another appropriately qualified and experienced officer; 

 This Commercial Investment Strategy, and associated indicators, support the proactive 
management of investments and associated risks into the Council’s day to day activities. 
At a senior officer level, the Capital Investment Group is central to this; 

 Strong in-year financial monitoring, including to Cabinet and Council continues as a 
cornerstone of the management of the Council’s finances and associated risks.  

Commercial Investment Indicators 

A number of indicators are produced to support the strategy. The prime focus of the indicators 
is the management of risk and the demonstration of proportionality of the investments in the 
context of the Council’s overall finance and asset base. In addition to the indicators set out, a 
number of others are used to support the day to day management of the investment portfolio. 
For example, extensive use is made of performance indicators in managing the Council’s 
Investment Property portfolio. 

Where data is not available, for example because the recommended indicator is inconsistent 
with the way that local authorities generally record data and manage their finances, then 
alternative indices are used instead, for the same purpose. The commercial investment 
indicators are summarised below and set out in detail in Appendix 6b: 

 Investment Category Value (Indicator 1). This indicator is designed to demonstrate risk 
exposure by indicating the value of commercial assets compared to all city council assets. 
Commercial assets are forecast to be 29% of total city council assets in 2023/24 (28% 
forecast in 2022/23). 

 Debt Funding per Investment Category (Indicator 2). Although historic borrowing is not 
identifiable to specific investments, the Council’s underlying borrowing requirement, in the 
form of the Capital Financing Requirement, was 28% of total council assets by current 

Page 78



value (as at 31/03/2022), indicating that assets provide approximately 3 times cover for 
the underlying borrowing requirement. 

 Rate of Return per Investment Category (Indicator 3). Although rate of return is not 
calculated net of capital financing costs for the reasons referred to above (see Indicator 
2), an alternative, based on gross income is used. In addition, the return is stated as a % 
of current value rather than historic cost as detailed data is not held on the latter. The total 
rate of return on commercial investments is forecast to be 4.5% in 2023/24 (5.0% forecast 
for 2022/23). 

 Service Loans (Indicator 4) and Shares (Indicator 5). Unlike other commercial 
investment indicators these two indicators represent limits above which the City Council 
should not invest. These can only be varied with the approval of Council and are referred 
to in the earlier section “The Council’s Commercial Investments” in which the investment 
types are covered in greater detail. 

 Debt: Net Revenue Stream (Indicator 6) and Commercial Income: Net Revenue 
Stream (Indicator 7). These indicators demonstrate the proportionality, both of the level 
of the Council’s debt and of its reliance on commercial income. Debt is forecast to 
represent 117.9% of NRS in 2023/24 (136.9% for 2022/23) and commercial income 9% in 
2023/24 (9.9% for 2022/23). 

The use of indicators will be reviewed and refined to maximise the usefulness in managing 
commercial investments. 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



Treasury Management Prudential Indicators     Appendix 6a 

 

 

Prudential Indicators 

The Cipfa Code imposes on the Council clear governance procedures for setting and revising 

of prudential indicators and describes the matters to which a Council will ‘have regard’ when 

Summary Prudential Indicators

Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast

 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26

£000's £000's £000's £000's

1 Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream:

(a) General Fund financing costs 37,853 39,017 41,794 44,720

(b) General Fund net revenue stream 237,379 260,455 284,407 291,418

General Fund Percentage 15.95% 14.98% 14.70% 15.35%

2 Gross Debt & Capital Financing Requirement

Gross debt including PFI liabilities 325,010 307,082 314,484 295,486

Capital Financing Requirement 515,482 514,796 523,698 546,204

Gross Investments -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000

3 Capital Expenditure  (Note this excludes leasing)

General Fund 159,481 159,186 104,431 119,188

4 Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)

Capital Financing Requirement 515,482 514,796 523,698 546,204

5 Authorised limit for external debt

Authorised limit for borrowing 481,092 480,919 493,655 519,793

+ authorised limit for other long term liabilities 68,448 53,877 50,043 46,411

= authorised limit for debt 549,540 534,796 543,698 566,204

6 Operational boundary for external debt

Operational boundary for borrowing 461,092 460,919 473,655 499,793

+ Operational boundary for other long term liabilities 68,448 53,877 50,043 46,411

= Operational boundary for external debt 529,540 514,796 523,698 546,204

7 Actual external debt

actual borrowing at 31 March 2022 263,254

+ PFI & Finance Leasing liabilities at 31 March 2022 59,943

+ transferred debt liabilities at 31 March 2022 8,497

= actual external debt at 31 March 2022 331,693

8 CIPFA Treasury Management Code ~ has the authority adopted the code? Yes

9 Interest rate exposures for borrowing

Upper Limit for Fixed Rate Exposures 481,092 480,919 493,655 519,793

Upper Limit for Variable Rate Exposures 96,218 96,184 98,731 103,959

10 Maturity structure of borrowing -  limits forecast lower upper

under 12 months 7% 0% 50%

12 months to within 24 months 2% 0% 20%

24 months to within 5 years 18% 0% 30%

5 years to within 10 years 10% 0% 30%

10 years & above 63% 40% 100%

11 Investments longer than 364 days: upper limit 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000

Page 81



doing so. This is designed to deliver accountability in taking capital financing, borrowing and 

treasury management decisions. The Prudential Indicators required by the Cipfa Code are 

designed to support and record local decision making and not used as comparative 

performance indicators. There are eleven indicators shown on the previous page, and these 

are outlined below: 

Revenue Related Prudential Indicators 

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream (indicator 1) – Definition Revised: 

This is an indicator of affordability and highlights the revenue implications of existing and 

proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget required to 

meet borrowing costs. The definition of this indicator has changed this year so that the 

financing costs are shown gross and are not netted down for investment and interest income. 

The total capital financing cost figure within the indicator for 2023/24 is £3.3m higher because 

of this change in the definition. In addition, the 2022/23 forecast figure reported at Q3 has 

been restated in the table above to similarly exclude investment and interest income and 

ensure a consistent presentation across the 4 year period. 

Capital and Treasury Management Related Prudential Indicators 

Gross Debt and Capital Financing Requirement (Indicator 2): 

The Council needs to be certain that gross external borrowing does not, except in the short 

term, exceed the total of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) in the preceding 

year plus the estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for the next three 

financial years. The CFR is defined as the Council's underlying need to borrow for capital 

purpose, i.e. its borrowing requirement. The CFR is the amount of capital expenditure that has 

not yet been financed by capital receipts, capital grants or contributions from revenue.  

Capital Expenditure (Indicator 3): 

This indicator is an estimation of the Council’s future capital expenditure levels and these 

underpin the calculation of the other prudential indicators. Estimates of capital expenditure are 

a significant source of risk and uncertainty and it is important that these estimates are 

continually monitored and the impact on other prudential indicators (particularly those relating 

to affordability) assessed regularly. 

Capital Financing Requirement (Indicator 4): 

As outlined in Indicator 2 above, the CFR represents the Council’s underlying need to borrow 

for capital purposes. 

 

Authorised Limit for External Debt (Indicator 5): 

This statutory limit sets the maximum level of external borrowing on a gross basis (i.e. 

excluding investments) for the Council. Borrowing at this level could be afforded in the short 

term but is not sustainable.  The Authorised limit has been set on the estimated debt with 

sufficient headroom over and above this to allow for unexpected cash movements. 

Operational Boundary for External Debt (Indicator 6): 

This indicator refers to the means by which the Council manages its external debt to ensure it 

remains within the statutory Authorised Limit. It differs from the authorised limit as it is based 

on the most likely scenario in terms of capital spend and financing during the year. It is not a 

limit and actual borrowing could vary around this boundary for short times during the year.  

Page 82



Actual External Debt (Indicator 7): 

This indicator identifies the actual debt at the end of the previous financial year as recognised 

with the Statement of Accounts. 

Adoption of the Cipfa Treasury Management Code (indicator 8): 

This indicator is acknowledgement that the Council has adopted CIPFA’s Treasury 

Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice. 

Interest Rate Exposures for Borrowing (Indicator 9): 

These indicators allow the Council to manage the extent to which it is exposed to changes in 

interest rates. The Upper Limit for variable rate exposure has been set to ensure that the 

Council is not exposed to interest rate rises which could impact negatively on the overall 

financial position. 

Maturity Structure of Borrowing – Limits (Indicator 10): 

This indicator highlights the existence of any large concentrations of fixed rate debt needing 

to be replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates and is designed to protect against 

excessive exposures to interest rate changes in any one period, thereby managing the effects 

of refinancing risks. The maturity of borrowing is determined by reference to the earliest date 

on which the lender can require payment.  

Investments Longer than 364 days: Upper Limit (Indicator 11): 

This indicator sets an upper limit for the level of investment that may be fixed for a period 

greater than 364 days. This limit is set to contain exposure to credit and liquidity risk. 

All these prudential limits need to be approved by full Council but can be revised during the 

financial year. Should it prove necessary to amend these limits, a further report will be brought 

to Cabinet, requesting the approval of full Council for the changes required. 

Liability Benchmark – New Indicator 

This indicator sets out a long term comparison of the underlying need to borrow vs the level 

of existing borrowing, and therefore gives a projection of the level of borrowing required. The 

indicator is presented as a forecast over 25 years: 

Year End 

Loans Capital 
Financing 

Requirement 
Net Loans 

Requirement 
Liability 

Benchmark 
Actual 

Borrowing 

Forecast 
Borrowing 
Required 

  £m £m £m £m £m 

2023 451.8 196.4 236.4 251.3 -15.0 

2024 456.3 236.1 276.1 244.4 31.7 

2025 471.2 286.3 326.3 243.1 83.2 

2026 499.8 348.5 388.5 229.8 158.6 

2027 482.1 346.0 386.0 228.5 157.5 

2028 463.7 342.7 382.7 227.2 155.5 

2029 443.4 337.6 377.6 225.8 151.8 

2030 423.6 332.9 372.9 224.5 148.5 

2031 404.5 328.9 368.9 223.1 145.8 

2032 386.3 325.8 365.8 221.6 144.1 

Page 83



2033 368.4 307.9 347.9 202.2 145.7 

2034 350.8 290.3 330.3 182.7 147.6 

2035 333.4 273.0 313.0 177.7 135.3 

2036 316.1 255.6 295.6 161.7 133.9 

2037 298.7 238.2 278.2 161.7 116.5 

2038 281.2 220.8 260.8 161.7 99.1 

2039 265.5 205.1 245.1 161.7 83.4 

2040 250.3 189.8 229.8 161.7 68.1 

2041 235.7 175.3 215.3 161.7 53.6 

2042 222.1 161.7 201.7 156.7 45.0 

2043 208.5 148.0 188.0 156.7 31.3 

2044 195.0 134.6 174.6 155.4 19.2 

2045 181.7 121.3 161.3 155.4 5.9 

2046 168.3 107.9 147.9 155.4 -7.5 

2047 154.9 94.4 134.4 149.4 -15.0 
 

Loans Capital Financing Requirement (LCFR) – the underlying requirement to borrow for 

capital financing purposes, excluding PFI. This increases as new capital spend to be 

resourced from borrowing is incurred and falls as MRP is made as a provision to repay 

borrowing. The LCFR is based on the capital programme set out in this report. 

Net Loans Requirement (NLR) - the LCFR less resources available to temporarily fund 

borrowing requirements from available cash (e.g. cash backing up reserves, net current 

assets). The NLR assumes that the authority holds no investment balances. 

Liability Benchmark (LB) - the NLR plus a liquidity allowance of £40m, representing the 

gross forecast level of borrowing required at each year end assuming that the authority holds 

a cash/investment balance of £40m as a liquidity buffer. 

Actual Borrowing - the total level of existing borrowing reducing over time as borrowing 

matures for repayment. This figure assumes no new borrowing and that LOBO loans of £38m 

mature at their contractual date. 

Forecast Borrowing Required - the Liability Benchmark less Actual Borrowing, representing 

the net forecast total level of borrowing required at each year end. Factors that impact on this 

25 year forecast include the future level of: reserves; net current assets (e.g. debtors and 

creditors);  capital expenditure;  capital resourcing; Minimum Revenue Provision; debt repaid 

early (e.g. LOBOs in advance of the contractual maturity date). 

Page 84



Prudential & Investment Indicators Appendix 6b

Commercial Investment Indicators

1 Investment Category Value : Total Gross Asset Value - Current Value (i)

Service Loans 84,969 4.7% 88,876 4.9%

Service Shares 95,612 5.3% 95,612 5.3%

Investment Property 334,710 18.4% 334,710 18.4%

Total Commercial Assets 515,291 28.4% 519,198 28.6%

Total Council Assets * 1,815,556 1,815,556

* assumes asset value is constant over the period

2 Debt Funding per Investment Category

3 Rate of Return (on Gross Asset  Value)

2022/23 2022/23 2023/24 2023/24

Income Return Income Return

£000 % £000 %

Service Loans (ii) 1,339 1.6% 1,594 1.8%

Service Shares 8,375 8.8% 8,824 9.2%

Investment Property 13,768 4.1% 13,103 3.9%

Total Commercial Assets 23,482 4.6% 23,520 4.5%
 

4 Service Loans : 2023/24 Upper Limit - Capital Invested (ii)

Service Loans 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000 £000

forecast forecast

Group Entities 44,724 44,724

Local Organisations 36,850 40,757

Service Users 2,347 2,347

Total Existing Loans 83,921 87,828

Future Loans 0 3,172

Total Loans Limit 53,000 91,000 91,000

5 Shares : 2023/24 Upper Limit - Capital Invested (ii)

Shares 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000 £000

forecast forecast

Group Entities 40,108 40,108

Local Organisations 12,019 12,019

Total Existing Shares (iv) 52,127 52,127

Future Investment 0 2,873

Total Shares 50,000 52,127 55,000

6 Debt : Net Revenue Stream

Debt : NSE 2022/23 2023/24

2022/23       

£000

2022/23     

Ratio 2023/24     £000

2023/24     

Ratio 

The Council’s underlying borrowing requirement, in the form of the Capital Financing Requirement 

as at 31/3/2022, was 28% (30% as at 31/03/2021) of total council assets by current value.

Page 85



£000 £000

Net Service Expenditure 237,422 260,502

Gross Debt 325,010 307,082

Ratio 136.9% 117.9%

7 Commercial Income : Net Revenue Stream

Commercial Income : NSE 2022/23 2023/24

£000 £000

Net Service Expenditure 237,422 260,502

Gross Investment Income 23,482 23,520

Ratio 9.9% 9.0%

Notes:

(i) Current value includes revaluation changes, in addition to capital invested 

(ii) Capital invested excludes  revaluation changes

Page 86


	Agenda
	3 Council Tax Setting Report 2023/24
	4 Budget Report 2023/24
	Budget Report 2023-24 - Appendix 1- Revenue Budget Changes 2023-24
	Budget Report 2023-24 - Appendix 2 - Consultation Responses 2023-24
	Budget Report 2023-24 - Appendix 3 - Portfolio Base Budgets 2023-24
	Budget Report 2023-24 - Appendix 4 - Capital Programme 2023-24
	Budget Report 2023-24 - Appendix 5 - Commercial Investment Strategy 2023-24
	Budget Report 2023-24 - Appendix 6a - Prudential Indicators 2023-24
	Budget Report 2023-24 - Appendix 6b - Investment Indicators 2023-24


